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On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), I am

presenting to our shareholders the results of Hanison

Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March

2010.

RESULTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

ENDED 31 MARCH 2010
For the year ended 31 March 2010, the turnover of the

Group was HK$884.4 million, being 51.6% lower than the

turnover of HK$1,828.5 million for the year ended 31 March

2009. Despite the decrease in turnover, the Group managed

to operate on slightly improved profit margins.

The outbreak of the financial crisis originated last year from

the US financial market and housing sector affected

industries from all over the world and our Group was no

exception. While various measures were being taken by

the governments of different countries to tackle the crisis,

we see financial problems growing rapidly in certain

European countries like Greece and Hungary during the

first half year of 2010. Financial turmoil came one after

next, and there is no sign that when the turmoil will stop.

In the midst of this global financial turmoil, the Group

underwent a challenging time during the year under review,

with turnover lower than that of last year. However, the

Group managed to achieve a consolidated net profit

attributable to the shareholders of approximately HK$109.2

million (2009: loss of HK$59.4 million), which was mainly

generated from the revenue of certain units of property sale

of a 50/50 joint venture development project, One LaSalle,

and the gain from revaluation of investment properties.

The basic earnings per share for the year was HK24.6 cents,

compared to a loss of HK13.4 cents last year.

As at 31 March 2010, the net asset value amounted to

HK$750.2 million (2009: HK$652.0 million), representing

an increase of 15.1% over last year. Net asset value per

share at 31 March 2010 was HK$1.69 (2009: HK$1.47).

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited 

884,400,000

1,828,500,000 51.6%

109 ,200 ,000

59,400,000 One LaSalle

24.6

13.4

7 5 0 , 2 0 0 , 0 0 0

652,000,000 15.1%

1.69 1.47
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DIVIDEND
The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK2.5

cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009:

HK1.0 cent per share) to shareholders whose names appear

on the Registers of Members of the Company on 10 August

2010 (“Record Date”). This together with the interim

dividend of HK1.5 cents per share (2009: HK0.5 cents per

share) gives a total of HK4.0 cents per share for the year

(2009: HK1.5 cents per share). The proposed final dividend

will be paid on 31 August 2010 following approval at the

annual general meeting (“AGM”).

PROPOSED BONUS ISSUE OF SHARES
The Board has also recommended a bonus issue (“Bonus

Issue”) of shares of HK$0.1 each in the capital of the

Company (“Bonus Share(s)”) on the basis of 1 Bonus Share

for every 10 existing shares held by the shareholders of the

Company whose names appear on the Registers of

Members as at the close of business on the Record Date.

The Bonus Shares will be fully paid at par and will rank

pari passu with the existing issued ordinary shares of the

Company in all respects from the date of issue, except that

they will not rank for the final dividend for the year ended

31 March 2010. The Bonus Issue is conditional upon

shareholders’ approval at the AGM and the Listing

Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

granting listing of, and permission to deal in, the Bonus

Shares. Details of the Bonus Issue are set out in a circular

to the shareholders of the Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Major economies worldwide have been affected by the

financial crisis in the USA and certain countries in Europe.

As a result, resolute economic stimulus measures and

quantitative easing policies have been implemented by

different countries to try restore the economy from further

deterioration, but the results of these approaches are yet

to see.

2.5

1.0 1.5

0.5

4 1.5

0.10
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The year-on-year percentage change in real terms of Hong

Kong’s Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) remained negative

for the first 3 quarters of 2009 but gradually recovered to a

growth of 2.5% in the last quarter of 2009. The GDP

continued to grow in the first quarter of 2010 and recorded

a swift increase by 8.2% in real terms over a year earlier.

However, whether the growth can bring about a positive

impact on each of the operating segments of the Group

remains to be seen.

Market competition of the construction industry is still fierce.

Statistics of the Government of the Hong Kong Special

Administrative Region (the “HKSAR Government”) show

that the gross value of construction works performed at

private sector sites decreased by 17.9% in real terms in

the fourth quarter of 2009 from a year earlier. Our

construction business has also decreased during the year

under review.

Our Interior and Renovation Division continued its focus

on securing new orders for the renovation of prestigious

buildings. The renovation industry remains competitive

despite market confidence has gradually restored.

In view that many construction activities have been slowed

down after the external shocks to the global economies in

2008, there was a decline in the demand for building

materials throughout the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group launched

the sale of One LaSalle, a jointly developed property with

NWS Holdings Limited. Six units of One LaSalle were sold

and the profits from these sales were recognised in this

financial year.

The investment properties segment continued its steady

performance and helped contribute to a stable source of

rental income to the Group.

After streamlining its business structure and closing those

unprofitable shops, the Health Products Division was able

to make a positive result this year.

2.5%

8.2%

17.9%

One LaSalle
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HIGHLIGHTS OF CORPORATE ACTIVITIES
• Hanison Construction Company Limited, a subsidiary

of the Group under the Construction Division, obtained

approval from Works Branch, Development Bureau

for inclusion in the List of Approved Contractors for

Public Works in Group C (Confirmed) under

“Buildings” Category (“Approved Contractor Group C

(Confirmed) for Building Works”).

• Tai Kee Pipes Limited (“Tai Kee”), a subsidiary of the

Group under the Building Material Division, was

awarded exclusive distributorship for “Suseco”

products which include Stainless Steel Pipe, Ductile

Iron Pipe, Cast Iron Pipe and Manhold Cover.

• The industrial redevelopment at Bedford Road

commenced during the year. The old industrial

building has just been demolished and a new

industrial building will be erected.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND PROSPECTS
Year 2009 was clearly no ordinary 12 months for business

and economics, and Hong Kong has gone through a

challenging tough year. Though the external environment

is still fraught with uncertainties, the stimulus packages

introduced to overcome the financial crisis by governments

in Hong Kong, mainland China and elsewhere in the world

should bring along some positive impacts.

Hong Kong has the advantage of being closely linked to

mainland China and will continue to benefit from a steady

growth of mainland China’s economy. The medium-term

capital works or infrastructure programmes of the HKSAR

Government are also working to stimulate the construction

industry and create more jobs in Hong Kong.

The Construction Division obtained approval for inclusion

as Approved Contractor Group C (Confirmed) for Building

Works which allows us to tender for and undertake

government projects with unlimited amount of contract sum.

With the increased spending programme of the HKSAR

Government for the next few years, the Group will seek

opportunities to secure more sizable government works.

•

•

Suseco

•
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During the year, the sale of One LaSalle of our Property

Development Division was encouraging. Our Group will ride

on our previous experience in property development and

continue to develop a solid ground for the Group’s future.

Going forward, economic conditions will remain fragile and

we need to stay alert to the possible headwinds for the years

ahead. It is likely that we will experience uncertain business

environment, but we will adjust strategies in response to

the economic uncertainties. Our management will adopt

prudent approaches to control costs and use proactive

measures to ensure our competitiveness and quality of

work.

Our enduring strength is a tribute to the continuing support

from our colleagues, shareholders and customers. On

behalf of the Board, I wish to thank the management team

and staff for working closely together to overcome this

turbulent time.

Cha Mou Sing, Payson
Chairman

One LaSalle
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Redevelopment of Sau Mau Ping Estate Phase 14

Construction of Choi Wan Road Development Site 2 Phase 1
2
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CONSTRUCTION DIVISION
The turnover for our Construction Division dropped by

62.6% to HK$541.5 million for the year ended 31 March

2010 (2009: HK$1,445.9 million). However, the division

managed to maintain steady performance due to settlement

of our claims on certain variation orders in dispute.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March 2010

was HK$727.5 million and that for the projects under joint

venture arrangements with a joint venture partner amounted

to HK$426.8 million.

62.6% 541,500,000 (

1,445,900,000 )

727,500,000

426,800,000

Construction of Lam Tin North Municipal Services Building
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Major Projects Completed
Project Type

(1) Construction of Choi Wan Road Development Site 2 Phase 1 and Residential
Sau Mau Ping Phase 12 (District Open Space)

2

(2) Substructure and superstructure work for Residential
residential development at 35 Mount Kellett Road, the Peak

35

(3) Design and construction of The Cameron, the office/ Office/Commercial
commercial development at No. 33 Cameron Road, Tsimshatsui

The Cameron 33

(4) Construction of maintenance hangar for China Aircraft Services Limited Commercial
at the Hong Kong International Airport

(5) Construction for the proposed hotel development at Discovery Bay Commercial

Construction of Sports Centre and Community Hall in Area 101 at Tin Shui Wan
101
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Having obtained approval for inclusion as Approved

Contractor Group C (Confirmed) for Building Works during

the year, the division has tendered for more government

projects and was awarded four contracts (including two

under joint venture arrangements with a joint venture

partner) since then up to the year ended 31 March 2010.

Major Projects in Progress
Project
(1) Construction of primary school at development near

Choi Wan Road and Jordan Valley, Kwun Tong

(2) Construction of a second secondary school at

development near Choi Wan Road and Jordan Valley,

Kwun Tong

(3) Construction of Sports Centre and Community Hall in

Area 101 at Tin Shui Wan

(4) Construction of Lam Tin North Municipal Services

Building

(5) Construction of the residential development at North

Development Phase 14, Area N1d, Discovery Bay

(6) Construction of footbridge, landing block and

landscaping works at Monmouth Path, 1 Queen’s

Road East

(1)

(2)

(3) 101

(4)

(5) 14 N1d

(6) 1

Project Type

(6) Construction work for the creation of two new sets of escalators Commercial

at the new CIP lounge of the Hong Kong International Airport

Space in North Concourse of Terminal 1

(7) Construction management of the proposed Shangri-la’s Villingili Resort & Spa Commercial

at Villingili Island, Addu Atoll, Republic of Maldives

Villingili
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Outlook

The property market experienced a setback following the

financial crisis originated last year from the US financial

market and housing sector. The negative impact of the

financial crisis spread across the world. With the decrease

in number of construction contracts and fluctuation in raw

material prices, the construction and construction materials

industries in Hong Kong have encountered a very difficult

operating environment.

In mid-2009, the property

market  in  Hong Kong

regained some momentum.

The ongoing low mortgage

rate and tight supply of

residential properties relative

to demand lend support to

the  i nc rease  i n  bo th

transactions and prices of

properties in Hong Kong.

Despite the residential

market has picked up both

in terms of prices and

volume, the construction

market remains fragile.

Activity in the construction

sector, especially for the

private sector, contracted

over the year. According to

the statistics of the HKSAR

Government, the total gross

value of construction works

performed by main contractors decreased by 3.4% in real

terms in 2009.

3.4%

Construction of Choi Wan Road Development Site 2 Phase 1
2
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49,600,000,000

50,000,000,000

O n  t h e  p u b l i c  s e c t o r,

however, an encouraging

news regarding the HKSAR

Government’s commitment

to continuously invest in

infrastructure to promote

economic  deve lopment

shed some l ight  on the

construction industry. It is

e s t ima ted  tha t  cap i t a l

works  expend i tu re  w i l l

increase to HK$49.6 billion

for 2010-11 and will be at

an al l - t ime high of over

HK$50 billion for each of

the next few years.

Having obtained approval

for inclusion as Approved

C o n t r a c t o r  G r o u p  C

(Confirmed) for Building

Works, the division will seize

every opportunity to tender

for and secure more sizable

government works. At the

same time, the division will

continue to implement cost

control initiatives, promote

proactive management and

str ingent  moni tor ing of

construct ion process in

order to improve business

performance.

Construction of The Cameron at 33 Cameron Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
33 The Cameron
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Renovation work for the clubhouses at Queen’s Garden at 9 Old Peak Road
9
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INTERIOR AND RENOVATION DIVISION
For the year ended 31 March 2010, the business of the

Interior and Renovation Division dropped slightly with a

turnover of HK$184.8 million, as compared with HK$237.5

million last year. However, the division operated with higher

gross margins resulting in operating profits even better than

that of last year.

Major Projects Undertaken
(1) Renovation and refurbishment works for Scenic

Garden at 9 Kotewall Road, Mid-levels

(2) Inter ior  f i t t ing-out works for  the res ident ia l

development at Area N1d, Phase 14, Discovery Bay,

Lantau Island

(3) Renovation and repartitioning of Chung Fu Shopping

Centre at Tin Shui Wan

(4) Refurbishment, renovation and alternation works for

Grenville House at 1-3 Magazine Gap Road, Mid-levels

During the year, the works for tower blocks of Grenville

House and the alternation and renovation works for

Tavistock at 10 Tregunter Path in Mid-levels were completed

on time and other projects are progressing according to

schedule.

Apart from undertaking renovation works in Hong Kong,

we also performed project management work in mainland

China. During the year, we were engaged as the project

manager for the refurbishment and renovation works for

Chelsea Residence at Chang Ning District, Shanghai.

The contract on hand at 31 March 2010 amounted to

HK$156.7 million.

1 8 4 , 8 0 0 , 0 0 0

237,500,000

(1) 9

(2) N1d

(3)

(4) 1-3

10

156,700,000



HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 / 2010

OPERATIONS REVIEW

20

The promotion and utilization

of mast climbing platform

continues to be one of the

highlights of the division. The

past success in using mast

climbing platform for projects

such as Grenville House,

Queen’s Garden, Villa Monte

Rosa and Ventris Place or

even the early success for

CDW Building were very

encouraging. The benefits

from the use of this mast

c l imbing  p la t fo rm have

received recognition from our

cl ients. The new project

secured for the renovation

and refurbishment of Scenic

Garden at 9 Kotewall Road

using this equipment is one of the examples.

Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited received Merit

Award of Considerate Contractors Site Award in the

Development Bureau Considerate Contractors Site Award

Scheme 2009. This award serves to recognise the

outstanding renovation works performed by the division

at Grenville House at 1-3 Magazine Gap Road, Mid-levels.

The award also confirms the commitment of the division

to provide high quality client service coupled with the

use of appropriate equipment such as the mast climbing

platform to deliver high quality and effective results.

9

1-3

Refurbishment, renovation and alternation works at Grenville House at
1-3 Magazine Gap Road, Mid-levels

1-3
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Outlook
Despite some major renovation activities were suspended

due to the global financial crisis, the division managed to

secure some sizable projects during the year. As the market

confidence restores gradually, the division will endeavour

to capture new business opportunities and seek continuing

development.

It is expected that the shopping centres under the

management of The Link Real Estate Investment Trust (“The

Link”) at various locations will undergo renovation works

for the coming years. In handling the renovation project for

Chung Fu Shopping Centre, which is one of The Link’s

shopping centres, the division has demonstrated the

professionalism, brilliant teamwork as well as responsible

attitude toward communication with different units to

achieve project completion. This project enables the division

to make quite an impression on the management of The

Link. The successful completion of the Chung Fu project is

likely to open the door to more renovation works from The

Link.

The division also foresees itself in the

pos i t i on  to  secure  more  pro jec t

management works in mainland China

followed by undertaking the project

management for the refurbishment and

renovation works for Chelsea Residence

at Chang Ning District, Shanghai. The

d iv i s ion  acqu i red  the  sk i l l s  and

experience in managing the workflow of

p ro j ec t  i n  ma in l and  Ch ina  and

c o m m u n i c a t i n g  w i t h  d i f f e r e n t

government departments and work units.

This project is a stepping stone for the

division to enter mainland China market

and the division is confident about the

future development of the division in

mainland China market.
Alternation and renovation works for Tavistock at
10 Tregunter Path in Mid-levels

10
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The Palazzo at 28 Lok King Street in Shatin — Design, supply and installation
of glass walls

28   

The Cameron at 33 Cameron Road, Tsim Sha Tsui — False ceiling
33 The Cameron  

Suseco products
Suseco 
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BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION
During the year, the market condition for building materials

was restrained by the reduction of construction work. For

the year ended 31 March 2010, the turnover for the division

was HK$193.1 million, compared with HK$274.4 million

last year.

Trigon Building Materials Limited (“Trigon
HK”) and Trigon Interior Fitting-Out Works
(Macau) Limited (“Trigon Macau”) (collectively,
Trigon”)
Trigon HK and Trigon Macau are two of the subsidiaries of

the Group under the Building Materials Division, specializing

in the supply and installation of interior products such as

different types of suspended ceiling system, metal cladding

system, demountable partition system, fire rated protection

system, decorative moulding, raised flooring and timber

flooring.

Having posit ioned itself in the

building material market, Trigon’s

persistent aim is to place more

emphasis on broadening its product

range. Trigon has sourced a new

environmental friendly material,

which is suitable for both interior and

exterior applications. This material

can turn into decorative panel,

mirror frame, ceiling cornice and

medallion for interior applications

while it can also be used as exterior

moulding, design column, patio

cover, planter and statue for exterior

applications. This material has

received environmental friendly

endorsements issued by the United

States and Hong Kong certifying its

Volatile Organic Compound (VOC)

free and fire resistance standards.

274,400,000

193,100,000

MTR Austin Station — False ceiling
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Major Projects Undertaken
(1) Discovery Bay Shopping Centre — Both internal and

external false ceiling system

(2) Chung Fu Shopping Centre — Supply and installation

of suspended ceiling system

(3) The mixed use development at Lot B, Zone B, Nape

in Macao — External typhoon-proof suspended

ceilings

Major Projects Awarded During the Year
(1) City University Building — Curved sloped aluminum

cladding, curved aluminum feature ceiling in theater

and baffle ceiling system

(2) No. 863-865 King’s Road — Internal suspended

ceiling system in office tower

(3) Hong Kong Science Park — Internal and external

aluminum baffle ceiling and external PVF2 storm-

proof false ceiling system

(4) Discovery Bay North, Phase 14 — False ceiling in

typical unit

(1)   

(2)   

(3) B B

  

(1)   

(2) 863  865   

(3)   

(PVF2)

(4) 14   
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Trigon HK and Trigon Macau completed the financial year

with lower turnover than that of last year. The year-end

contracts on hand amounted to approximately HK$19.9

million, which comprised contracts for the supply and

installation of false ceiling, bathroom cabinet and timber

flooring.

Subsequent to 31 March 2010, Trigon was awarded the

following projects:—

(1) Scenic Garden at 9 Kotewall Road, Mid-levels —

External storm-proof ceiling system and France made

stretch fabric ceiling

(2) Discovery Bay North, Phase 14 — External typhoon-

proof ceiling system in Podium

(3) Sun Yat Sen Memorial Park and Swimming Pool —

France made stretch fabric ceiling

Outlook
The building materials market will still be very competitive,

with pressures from both external  and domest ic

surroundings.

Despite the upsurge in property market in 2009, the number

and size of building materials contracts lagged behind the

trend for the past year. It takes time to turn around the

situation given the financial problems emerged from certain

parts of Europe which may pose negative impact and

uncertainty on economies worldwide.

Going forward, Trigon will continue to expand its product

range and explore new distributorship for high quality

innovative products in order to retain clients and broaden

its client base. Further, with increased spending on

infrastructure works by the HKSAR Government, Trigon will

seize the opportunities to secure more large-scale civil works.

19,900,000

(1) 9   

(2)   

(3)   
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Tai Kee Pipes Limited (“Tai Kee”)
Another subsidiary under the Building Materials Division,

Tai Kee, focuses in the supply of pipes, fittings and other

related accessories through both retail and project sales.

Affected by the global

f inanc ia l  c r i s i s ,  the

turnover of Tai Kee for

the year under review

dropped as compared to

last year’s record. In view

of the negative impact of

the global economy on

Tai Kee’s business, Tai

Kee took a proactive role

in the search of new

produc t s  t o  ensu re

customers with a variety

of choice.

During the year, the division was awarded exclusive

distributorship for “Suseco” products. The “Suseco”

products distributed by the division include Stainless Steel

Pipe, Ductile Iron Pipe, Cast Iron Pipe and Manhold Cover.

The sales team has been equipped with the knowledge to

introduce the “Suseco” products to clients.

Projects Awarded During the Year
(1) Water Supplies Department: pipe work improvement

programme 16/WSD/09 — “Suseco” manhole covers

(2) Ocean Park Redevelopment — Polyethylene pipes

and fittings

(3) Drainage Services Department: pipe work at Lantau

Island DC07/18 — Polyethylene pipes

Suseco

Suseco

(1) 16/WSD/09  

Suseco

(2)   

(3) DC07/18   

Exclusive distributor for “Suseco” products
Suseco
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(4) Housing Bureau of the Government of the Macao

Special Administrative Region (“Macau”): Lot M55

Development — Copper pipes

(5) 20 Shan Kwong Road, Happy Valley — ACR tubes

(6) Pui Ching Primary and Middle School — G. I. pipes

and black steel pipes

(7) Global Gateway Building in Tsuen Wan — Black steel

pipes for mechanical ventilation and air-conditioning

(MVAC)

(8) Hotel at 21 Whifield Road, North Point — G.I. pipes

for fire services

(9) So Kwun Wat — ACR pipes and fittings

(10) Architectural Service Department: school improvement

programme — ACR pipes for three secondary schools

(11) The Chinese University of Hong Kong: improvement

contract 423 “Suseco” D.I. pipe and fittings

The total amount of contracts on hand of Tai Kee as at

31 March 2010 amounted to HK$18.8 million.

Outlook
The reduction in construction works has inevitably affected

the demand for metal piping materials and related fittings.

To cope with the external pressure, Tai Kee focused on the

quality of its products to maintain its competitiveness.

Recently, the Architectural Service Department has

implemented new requirement for G.I. pipe standard, all

of the G.I. pipes supplied by Tai Kee fulfill this new

requirement.

In view that the market is likely to remain challenging, the

division will continue to source new products with good

quality and seek distributorships of new brand products

from reliable manufacturers to consolidate our position in

the industry.

(4) M55 

  

(5) 20   

(6)   

(7)   

(8) 21   

(9)   

(10)   

(11) 4 2 3  

Suseco

18,800,000
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Million Hope Industries Limited (“Million Hope
HK”) and ( )
( ) (collectively “Million Hope”)
Million Hope HK and  specialise in the design, supply

and installation of aluminium windows and curtain walls in

Hong Kong and mainland China. Million Hope is one of the

authorised manufacturers of the renowned German brand

product “Schüco”. We have assigned our sales team to

actively promote the unitised façade system and energy-

efficient façade system of “Schüco”.

During the year, Million Hope completed a number of

projects and was awarded several new contracts. Adhered

to the principles of team management and quality control,

Million Hope HK and  strived to enhance its product

quality and achieve production efficiency.

Both the turnover and gross margins for the year were lower

than that of last year.

Schüco

Processing plant in Huizhou, PRC for the production of aluminium windows and curtain walls
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Major Projects Completed
Projects in Hong Kong

(1) Queen’s Road East — Design, supply and installation

of curtain wall, glass wall and cladding, aluminium

window and louvre

(2) South Bay Close at Repulse Bay — Design, supply

and installation of curtain wall, glass wall, aluminium

window, louvre, cladding and glass cladding

(3) The Cameron at 33 Cameron Road, Tsim Sha Tsui —

Design, supply and installation of curtain wall, glass

wall, cladding and glass cladding

(4) No. 6D — 6E, Babington Path in Mid-levels — Design,

supply and installation of aluminium window,

aluminium door and louvre

Projects in mainland China

(5) Rhine Peninsula in Zhuhai — Design, supply and

installation of aluminium window, aluminium door,

louvre and glass balustrade

(6) Chelsea Residence in Shanghai — Design, supply and

installation of aluminium window, aluminium door,

louvre and glass balustrade

Major Projects in Progress
Projects in Hong Kong

(1) Proposed residential development at 9A — 9H

Seymour Road — Design, supply and installation of

aluminium window, sliding door, glass balustrade,

aluminium cladding and feature

(2) Proposed residential development for Winfield

Building at Nos. 1, 3 and 5 Ventris Road in Happy

Valley — Design, supply and installation of aluminium

window, sliding door and glass balustrade

(1)   

(2)   

(3) 33 The Cameron  

(4) 6D-6E  

(5)   

(6)   

(1) 9A-9H   

(2) 1 3 5
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(3) Lam Tin North Municipal Services Building — Design,

supply and installation of aluminium curtain walls,

canopy, skylight and feature

(4) Proposed residential development at Phase 15, Area

N1e of Discovery Bay — Design, supply and

installation of aluminium window, sliding door, glass

balustrade and glass wall

(5) Proposed residential redevelopment of Yucca de Lac

in Shatin — Design, supply and installation of

aluminium window and “Schüco” folding door

(6) Phase 14 of Discovery Bay — Design, supply and

installation of curtain walls, aluminium windows,

aluminium sliding doors, glass balustrades and glass

walls

(7) Proposed residential development at 16 — 34 Wood

Road in Wanchai — Design, supply and installation

of curtain wall, aluminium window, sliding door,

balustrade and glass wall

(8) Ma Wo in Tai Po — Design, supply and installation of

aluminium window, sliding door and glazed works

(9) Choi Wan Road Development Site 2 Phase 1 and Sau

Mau Ping Phase 12 — Design, supply and installation

of natural anodized aluminium window, aluminium

door and louvre

Project in mainland China

(10)  (Translation: Hua Kai Di Ting Yuan) in

Dongguan — Design, supply and installation of

aluminium window, aluminium door, “Schüco” folding

door and louvre

The total amount of contracts on hand of Million Hope as

at 31 March 2010 amounted to HK$154.6 million.

(3)   

(4) 15 N1e  

(5)   

(6) 14   

(7) 16-34  

(8)   

(9) 2

  

(10)   

154,600,000
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Outlook
Mill ion Hope has been devoting i ts efforts to the

development of cellular manufacturing of curtain wall and

the research and development of aluminium window and

door to meet international standards.

Our processing plant in Huizhou, the mainland China had

undergone the assessment by the Hong Kong Quality

Assurance Agency for the past eight months and was

awarded the ISO9001: 2008 certificate in recognition of its

quality control standard in the design, manufacture and

installation project management of aluminium curtain wall

and window.

In addition to the certificate, we are planning to apply for

ISO14000 environmental management system certificate.

By undergoing the assessment, this encourages us to

maintain our environmental management system to set

standards and strive for enhancement to the division’s

product quality.

Our processing plant has also been equipped with advanced

automotive processing equipment from Germany. Together

with the implementation of Enterprise Resources Planning

(ERP) System, this allows us to improve the production

management standards.

The  compe t i t i on  o f  t he

industry is fierce and is likely

to remain competitive for the

years to come. Apart from

securing contracts in Hong

Kong, we wil l  r ide on our

experience and knowledge of

the market  demand and

requirements in mainland

China to expand our business.

ISO9001:2008

ISO14000

Hyatt Regency Dongguan — Supply and installation of aluminium windows
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One LaSalle in Kowloon Tong
One LaSalle
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
The sale of the One LaSalle, a 50/50 jointly developed

property with NWS Holdings Limited, commenced during

the year, and up to the financial year end, 6 units were

sold realizing a gross income of HK$333.7 million. One

LaSalle has received encouraging market response and the

sale of the remaining units will continue in 2010.

During the year, construction of the Eight College, the

Group’s 100% owned development project, has been

completed. Situated at prime location of Kowloon Tong,

Eight College offers residents a perfect mix of seclusion

and accessibility. Pre-sale consent was obtained in 2009

and it is now in the stage of obtaining the occupancy permit.

Demolition work for the industrial redevelopment at Bedford

Road commenced during the year and has been completed

recently. The General Building Plan was approved by the

Buildings Department. It is designed to redevelop the site

as an industrial building.

The division is in the course of

obtaining planning approval

from the Town Planning Board

for the residential development

project with Sun Hung Kai

Properties Limited at So Kwun

Wat, Tuen Mun.

The General Building Plan of

the residential development at

DD129, Lau Fau Shan in Yuen

Long was approved by the

Buildings Department during

the year.  I t  is  undergoing

gazettal stage.

One LaSalle

)

333,700,000 One LaSalle

E i g h t

College

129

Eight College in Kowloon Tong
Eight College
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Outlook
The property market has experienced an upsurge since

the second quarter of 2009. Since then, many forecasts

were rosy about the Hong Kong property market amid low

interest rates and limited new supply.

While residential property prices will likely continue to be

supported by low interest rates, further measures by the

HKSAR Government to regulate developers’ marketing

practices and increase transparency may temper the

property market in the short run. Besides, due to the current

financial market volatility, those who are in doubt adopt a

wait-and-see attitude to a home purchase.

Industrial rental remained on an uptrend over the first

quarter of 2010. With the proposal to encourage conversion

of industrial buildings in the Policy Address, owners of

industrial buildings may opt to convert the buildings into

other uses. The measure in place may lead to a reduction

in the supply of industrial buildings which in turn stimulates

investors’ interest in industrial property investment.

Looking forward, we are confident in the long-term demand

for residential and industrial properties. The recent slow

down in property market in response to the HKSAR

Government’s regulatory measures is somehow an

adjustment for a more healthy property market in the long

run. The division will continue to locate suitable sites for

acquisition and redevelopment should opportunities arise.
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The Austine in Jordan
The Austine

Shatin Industrial Centre in Shatin
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT DIVISION
The turnover of the division was HK$24.9 mill ion,

representing an increase by 18.0% as compared to the

turnover of HK$21.1 million last year.

Leasing performance for the Group’s investment properties

was steady, with our investment property, Shatin Industrial

Centre in Shatin, attaining an occupancy rate of around

94.74% as at 31 March 2010.

The Austine, a conversion of Tak Hing Building into a

serviced-apartment building, commenced letting in May

2009. As at 31 March 2010, the occupancy rate of the

residential floors reaches nearly 90%.

Other investment properties of the Group include 23-25

Mei Wan Street in Tsuen Wan, 31 Wing Wo Street in Sheung

Wan, some units at Kin Wing Industrial Building in Tuen

Mun, various land lots in D.D. 76 Ping Che in Fanling,

various land lots in D.D. 128 Deep Bay Road in Yuen Long

and Hoi Bun Godown in Tuen Mun in which the Group has

50% interest, all contributed to satisfactory income to the

Group during the year.

Following the Hong Kong Accounting Standard 40

“Investment Property” (“HKAS40”), the revaluation surplus,

after accruing for the relevant expenses and deferred tax,

was credited to the income statement for the year ended

31 March 2010. From an independent valuer’s report, the

Group recorded a revaluation surplus of HK$73.6 million

for its investment properties existing at the year-end-date.

Outlook
With the uptrend of property market for the past years, the

leasing market has also benefited. Going forward, the

division will continue to strengthen its portfolio of rental

properties by acquiring suitable properties to secure

recurrent cash flow.

24,900,000

21,100,000 18.0%

94.74%

The

Austine

90%

23-25

31

76

128

4 0

HKAS40

73,600,000
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Project Manager of The Cameron, Tsim Sha Tsui
The Cameron
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PROPERTY AGENCY AND MANAGEMENT

DIVISION
Currently, the division is providing property management,

rental collection and leasing agency services to The

Cameron and 8 Hart Avenue in Tsimshatsui, The Austine

in Jordan, One LaSalle in Kowloon Tong and Golf Parkview

in Sheung Shui. It is now the project manager of Eight

College, The Cameron and Nos. 91 — 97 Bedford Road.

The division’s turnover for the year was HK$6.9 million,

compared to HK$2.5 million for the corresponding period

last year.

Outlook
We are committed to improving our service quality to

occupants. Our seasoned management service team

pursues excellence and strives to enhance services

delivered to occupants by identifying ways to facilitate

efficient, cost-effective and innovative management of

services.

8 The

Cameron The Austine One

LaSalle

E i g h t

College The Cameron 91  97

6,900,000

2,500,000
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HealthPlus in CC Wu Building, Wanchai
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HEALTH PRODUCTS DIVISION
The number of retail shops in April 2009 was 13 as

compared to 10 in March 2010. During the year, the division

closed down two unprofitable shops and two other shops

where the rent had been dramatically increased. After the

elimination of the inefficient shops, we opened a new retail

shop in Lok Fu Plaza in February 2010. In spite of the

reduction in the number of shops, turnover for the year

ended 31 March 2010 slightly increased to HK$48.7 million

(2009: HK$46.6 million).

Care & Health Limited (“Care & Health”) is mainly involved

in the trading of Lingzhi Master Series. The turnover of the

Lingzhi Master Series contributed to approximately 27.9%

of the overall turnover. Further, our plan to penetrate the

Macau market is well underway. Our Lingzhi Master Series,

Metro Chinese Medicine and some western healthcare

products would be on the shelves of the major drug stores

in Macau some time in June/July 2010.

The Group’s two other subsidiaries under the Health

Products Division are Healthcorp Trading Limited

(“Healthcorp”) and Retailcorp Limited (“Retailcorp”).

Healthcorp is engaged

in the wholesale and

retail of western health

supplements and “28

Chinese herbal soup

for postnatal women”.

Our sales brand under

Healthcorp, “Bu Yick

F o n g ” ,  i s  m a i n l y

involved in the trading

o f  F i s h  M a w ,

Cordyceps Extract and

“28 Chinese herbal

soups for postnatal

women”. The turnover of “28 Chinese herbal soup for

postnatal women” made up about 13.6% of the overall

turnover and has been listed in Mannings since July 2009.

The “28 Chinese herbal soup for postnatal women” is now

on sale at 105 outlets of Mannings.

48,700,000 46,600,000

27.9%

13.6%

105HealthPlus sells a variety of health products including Lingzhi Master Series
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Retailcorp operates the chain health shop business under

the trade name of HealthPlus. During the year, we revamped

the HealthPlus brand image by renovating our shops with

a series of green apple motifs, creating a sense of fresh,

young, organic and healthy images to our members and

customers. Retailcorp has a variety of health product lines

including Natural Extracts, Healthway, HealthMate and

Organic Plus. It also sells a large variety of vendor goods

and health devices. Recently, Retailcorp added two new

products; ActivJoint under the brand of HealthMate as well

as a series of snacks under the brand of Green Plus.

HealthPlus and Care & Health were awarded the “Caring

Company” honour from the HK Council of Social Service

for the 5th and 6th consecutive year respectively.

HealthPlus joined the “Love Chocolate Charity Sale 2010

of Sheng Kung Hui St. Christopher’s Home” as a charity

fundraising event.

Outlook
The division will endeavour to source good and new

healthcare products for our customers. Our next step will

be to introduce our healthcare products to the Japanese

market in Hong Kong. Equally important, the division will

focus keenly on controlling the quality of our healthcare

products as well as monitoring closely to ensure their

compliance with every statutory requirement.

Green Plus

New HealthPlus shop in Lok Fu Plaza
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SUMMARY OF RESULTS
The turnover for the Group decreased to HK$884.4 million

for the year ended 31 March 2010, compared to

HK$1,828.5 mil l ion achieved last year. The profit

attributable to shareholders for the current year was

HK$109.2 million or HK24.6 cents per share against a loss

attributable to shareholders of HK$59.4 million or HK13.4

cents per share for the last year. The main reason for the

current year’s profit was the surplus from investment

properties revaluation of HK$73.6 million (net amount

HK$54.4 million after accruing for relevant expense and

deferred tax), and recognition of profit of HK$47.9 million

from property sale of certain units of a 50/50 joint venture

development project, One LaSalle.

GROUP LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL

RESOURCES
The Group’s liquidity and financing requirements are

regularly reviewed.

For day-to-day liquidity management and to maintain

flexibility in funding, the Group has access to banking

facilities with an aggregate amount of HK$1,004.4 million

(HK$387.8 million was secured by first charges over certain

land and buildings, investment properties and properties

under development of the Group), of which HK$630.3

million loans have been drawn down and approximately

HK$81.4 million has been utilised mainly for the issuance

of letters of credit and performance bonds as at 31 March

2010. The bank loans under these banking facilities bear

interests at prevailing market interest rates.

The Group follows a prudent policy in managing its cash

balance, and endeavours to maintain its sound cash-flow

generating capability, its ability to take on investments and

acquisition projects, in order to enhance shareholder

wealth. The total cash and bank balances of the Group

amounted to HK$186.9 million as at 31 March 2010 (2009:

HK$195.6 million), and accounted for 18.0% of the current

assets (2009: 18.1%).

1,828,500,000

884,400,000

109,200,000 24.6

59,400,000

13.4

73,600,000

54,400,000

One LaSalle

47,900,000

1,004,400,000 387,800,000

630,300,000

81,400,000

186,900,000

195,600,000

18.0% 18.1%
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During the year, the Group has a net cash inflow of HK$24.0

million in its operating activities (mainly due to the decrease

in amount receivable on contract work and progress

payments receivable, retention money receivables), a net

cash outflow of HK$14.6 million in its investing activities

(mainly to finance the purchase of property, plant and

equipment), and a net cash outflow of HK$18.0 million in

its financing activities (mainly for paying dividends to

shareholders and repayment of bank loans). As a result,

the cash and bank balances, and the bank borrowings

decreased. Net bank borrowings (total bank borrowings less

total cash and bank balances) amounted to HK$443.4

million at 31 March 2010 (2009: net bank borrowings of

HK$441.6 million). Accordingly, the gearing ratio of the

Group, calculated on the basis of the Group’s net borrowings

to shareholders’ funds, was 59.1% (2009: 67.7%). The

net current assets have decreased by HK$10.6 million to

HK$95.7 million as at the year-end date and the current

ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.10

times (2009: 1.11 times).

With its cash holdings, steady cash inflow from its

operations, together with available banking facilities, the

Group’s liquidity position will remain healthy in the coming

year, with sufficient financial resources to meet its

ob l iga t ions ,  opera t ion  and fu ture  deve lopment

requirements.

TREASURY POLICY
The aim of the Group’s treasury policy is to minimise its

exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate and not to

engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative

products. Treasury transactions unrelated to underlying

financial exposure are not undertaken. Foreign currency

exposures of the Group arise mainly from the purchase of

goods. The Group will determine if any hedging is required,

on an individual basis, depending upon the size and nature

of the exposure, and the prevailing market circumstances.

In order to enhance the deployment of internal funds with

maximum benefit, to achieve better risk control, and to

minimise cost of funds, the Group’s treasury activities are

centralised and scrutinised by the top management.

24,000,000

14,600,000

18,000,000

443,400,000

441,600,000

59.1%

67.7%

10,600,000 95,700,000

1.10

1.11



HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 / 2010

FINANCIAL REVIEW

44

The surplus cash is generally placed in short-term bank

deposits with reputable financial institutions. Most of these

deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Most of

the income, expenses, assets and liabilities of the Group

are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group therefore

will not have any significant exposure to gains or losses

arising from the movement of foreign currency exchange

rate against the Hong Kong dollar.

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
At the year-end date, shareholders’ funds of the Group were

HK$750.2 million including reserves of HK$705.9 million,

an increase of HK$98.2 million from HK$607.7 million at

31 March 2009. On that basis, the consolidated net asset

value of the Group as at 31 March 2010 was HK$1.69 per

share, compared to the consolidated net asset value of

HK$1.47 per share at 31 March 2009. Increase in

shareholders’ funds was mainly attributable to profits

retained after the payments of dividends during the year.

MAJOR ACQUISITIONS
During the year under review, the Group purchased the

2nd Floor at No. 97 Bedford Road in Tai Kok Tsui from an

independent third party. This was the last unit acquired for

the Group’s property portfolio at Bedford Road.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Group intends to keep an appropriate mix of equity

and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure over time.

During the year under review, the Group has borrowed Hong

Kong dollar loans amounting to HK$630.3 million from the

banks (at 31 March 2009: HK$637.2 million). The

borrowings have been used as general working capital and

for financing the acquisition of a factory building in Huizhou

and properties for investment purposes over the years. The

maturity profile of the loans spread over a period of five

years with HK$554.3 million repayable within the first year,

HK$5.0 million repayable within the second year, HK$44.0

million within the third to fifth years and HK$27.0 million

repayable more than five years. Interest is based on HIBOR

plus a competitive margin.

750,200,000 705,900,000

607,700,000 98,200,000

1.69

1.47

97

630,300,000

637,200,000

554,300,000

5,000,000

44,000,000

27,000,000
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698,200,000

608,600,000

370,300,000

374,300,000

40

41

COLLATERAL
As at 31 March 2010, certain land and buildings,

investment properties and properties under development

of the Group, at the carrying value of approximately

HK$698.2 million (at 31 March 2009: HK$608.6 million),

were pledged to the banks to secure the Hong Kong dollar

loans of HK$370.3 million (at 31 March 2009: HK$374.3

million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 40 of

the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Details of the capital commitments are set out in note 41 of

the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

POLICY
The Group is implementing a manpower policy that aims

to maximise the output of existing staff resources in order

to achieve productivity gains. We believe that through

improving our staff’s job-related competencies, our overall

operational efficiency can be improved without the need

for substantial increase in headcount.

The number of full time monthly employees of the Group,

excluding its jointly controlled entities, was around 530 as

at 31 March 2010. In addition to salary payments, other

benefits include provident fund schemes, discretionary

bonuses, on-the-job training, education sponsorship

subsidies, a medical insurance scheme, a group life and

personal accident insurance scheme.

Employees and directors are remunerated according to

individual and the Group’s performance, industry trends,

prevailing market conditions, the nature of the job and value

creation. The Group recruits and promotes individuals

based on their development potential, merits and

competencies, and ensures that their remuneration

packages are at a reasonable market level. All directors,

full time employees and consultants of the Group are

entitled to participate in the share option scheme of the

Company. The principal terms of the share option scheme

are summarised in the Report of the Directors.
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Good corporate governance practices are crucial to

enhancing shareholder value. With this in mind, the

Directors of the Company are keen on maintaining high

standards of corporate governance. This is reflected in

terms of a quality Board of Directors and the emphasis on

transparency and accountability. Throughout the year

ended 31 March 2010, the Company has complied with all

the Code Provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance

Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in the Rules Governing

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”),

except for the deviations set out below in respect of which

remedial steps for compliance have been taken or

considered reasons are given below.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Shareholders 
and Other 

Stakeholders 

股東與其他
利益相關者

External
Auditor
外聘核數師  

Board of 
Directors
董事會 

General 
Business

Committee
一般事務
委員會

Remuneration 
Committee 
薪酬委員會 

Company 
Secretary
公司秘書

Property 
Acquisition / 

Disposal 
Committee
收購／出售
物業委員會

Audit 
Committee
審核委員會  
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The Company acknowledges the important role of its Board

of Directors (“Board”) in providing effective leadership and

direction to the Group’s businesses, and ensuring

transparency and accountability of business operations.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of

the Company are summarised as follows:—

1. THE BOARD
1.1 The Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and

control of the Company and oversees the Group’s

businesses, and assumes responsibility for

strategy formulation, corporate governance and

performance monitoring. It develops and reviews

the Group’s strategies and policies, formulates

business plans and evaluates performance of

the operating divisions against agreed budgets

and targets through regular discussion on key

and appropriate issues in a timely manner. It

also exercises a number of reserved powers,

including: approval of annual and interim results

and significant changes in accounting policy or

capital structure, internal control system,

material transactions (in particular those which

may involve conflict of interests), major capital

projects, setting Group remuneration policy,

dividend policy, appointment of Directors,

supervision of management and other significant

financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and

operation of the Company are delegated to the

Managing Director and the senior management,

who fulfill their duties within their scope of authority

and responsibility. Divisional heads are responsible

for different aspects of the businesses. Major

functions delegated to management include

preparation of annual and interim results,

execution of business strategies and initiatives

adopted by the Board, implementation of an

adequate internal control system and compliance

with the relevant statutory requirements.

1.
1.1
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All Directors are kept informed of major changes

that may affect the Group’s businesses on a

timely basis, and can avail themselves of the

advice and services of the Company Secretary

so that Board procedures and all applicable rules

and regulations are followed. Each Director can

have recourse to independent professional

advice in performing their duties at the

Company’s expense, upon making request to the

Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate

insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’

liabilities in respect of legal actions against its

Directors and senior management arising out of

corporate activities.

1.2 Board Composition
The composition of the Board reflects the

necessary balance of skills and experience

desirable for effective leadership of the Company

and independence in decision making. The

biographies of the Directors (and their

relationships, if any) are set out on pages 70 to 73

of this annual report, which demonstrates a

diversity of skills, expertise, experience and

qualifications. There is no relationship between the

Chairman and the Managing Director. During the

year ended 31 March 2010, the Board at all times

met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating

to the appointment of at least three independent

non-executive directors. One of the independent

non-executive directors, Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

possesses the appropr iate professional

qualifications and accounting or related financial

management expertise.

1.2

70 73
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The Board of Directors of the Company

comprises the following Directors:—

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)
Dr. Lam Chat Yu

Mr. Shen Tai Hing

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson (Chairman)
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Mr. Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

Dr. Sun Tai Lun

The list of Directors (by category) is also

disclosed in all corporate communications

issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing

Rules from time to time.

Coming from diverse business and professional

backgrounds, the Non-executive Directors and

Independent Non-executive Directors bring a

wealth of expertise and experiences to the

Board, which contributes to the success of the

Group. Through active participation in Board

meetings, taking the lead in managing issues

involving potential conflict of interests and

serving on Board committees, all of them make

various contributions to the effective direction

of the Company.
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All independent non-executive Directors are free

from any business or other relationships with

the Company. The Company has received written

annual confirmation of independence from each

Independent Non-execut ive Director  in

accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has assessed their independence

and concluded that all independent non-

executive Directors are independent within the

meaning of the Listing Rules.

1.3 Appointment and Re-election of
Directors
Code  P rov i s i on  A .4 .1  s t i pu l a t e s  t ha t

Non-executive Directors should be appointed for

a specific term, subject to re-election. The

Non-executive Directors and the Independent

Non-executive Directors of the Company are not

appointed for a specific term. Pursuant to the

Articles of Association of the Company amended

on 2 August 2005, at each annual general

meeting of the Company, one-third of the

Directors, including Executive, Non-executive

and Independent Non-executive Directors shall

retire from office by rotation, and every Director

shall be subject to retirement at least once every

three years. As such, the Company considers

that sufficient measures have been taken to

ensure that the corporate governance practices

of the Company are no less exacting than those

in the CG Code.

The Company does not have a nomination

committee. The Board as a whole is responsible

for reviewing the Board composition, developing

and formulating the relevant procedures for

nomination and appointment of Directors and

assessing the independence of Independent

Non-executive Directors.

3.13

1.3

A.4.1



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

51

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board

will identify suitable individuals by making

reference to criteria including the skil ls,

experience, professional knowledge, personal

integrity and time commitments of the proposed

candidates, the Company’s needs and other

relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

New Directors are sought mainly through

referrals or internal promotion.

The Company’s circular sent together with this

annual report contains detailed information of

the Directors standing for re-election at the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)

of the Company.

1.4 Board Proceedings
The Board held four meetings during the year

ended 31 March 2010 and the principal

businesses transacted include:—

• Assessing business performance and

planning future business directions;

• Approving interim and final results and

reports;

• Determining payment of dividend;

• Approving the continuing connected

transactions; and

• Approving the renewal of the existing staff

bonus scheme.

1.4

•

•

•

•

•
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The individual attendance record of each

Director at Board meetings during the year

ended 31 March 2010 is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Percentage
Name of Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson

(Chairman)* * 3/41 75%

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

(Managing Director) 4/4 100%

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) 4/4 100%

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson* * 3/4 75%

Mr. Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin* * 3/4 75%

Mr. Chan Pak Joe# # 4/4 100%

Dr. Lam Chat Yu 4/4 100%

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter# # 4/4 100%

Mr. Shen Tai Hing 3/4 75%

Dr. Sun Tai Lun# # 4/4 100%

* Non-executive Director
# Independent Non-executive Director

1 The Board meeting held on 23 March 2010 was
attended by the alternate director of Mr. Cha
Mou Sing, Payson who was appointed for one
day on 23 March 2010 for the purpose of
attending and voting on his behalf at that
particular Board meeting.

Annual meeting schedules are normally made

available to the Directors in advance. Notices of

regular Board meetings are given to all the

Directors at least 14 days before the meetings.

For other Board and committee meetings,

reasonable notice is generally given.

*
#

1
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Board papers together with all appropriate,

complete and reliable information are sent to all

the Directors at least 3 days before each Board

meeting or committee meeting to keep the

Directors apprised of the latest developments

and financial position of the Company and to

enable them to make informed decisions. The

Board and each Director also has separate and

independent access to the senior management

whenever necessary. The Directors receive a

regular supply of information about the business

activities, financial highlights and operations

review so that they are well informed prior to

participation in Board meetings.

The Financial Controller attended all regular

Board meetings and when necessary, other

Board and committee meetings to advise on

bus iness  deve lopments ,  f inanc ia l  and

accounting matters, statutory compliance,

corporate governance and other major aspects

of the Company.

According to current Board practice, any

transaction with a material amount will be

considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly

convened Board meeting. The Company’s

Articles of Association also contain provisions

requiring Directors to abstain from voting and

not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for

approving transactions in which such Directors

or any of their associates (as defined in the

Listing Rules) have a material interest.
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1.5 Model Code for Securities
Transactions
The Company has adopted the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the guideline

for securities transactions by Directors and

employees who are likely to be in possession of

unpublished price-sensitive information of the

Company.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the

Directors and the Directors have confirmed that

they have complied with the Model Code

throughout the year ended 31 March 2010. No

incident of non-compliance of the Model Code

by the employees was noted by the Company.

2. CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING

DIRECTOR
The positions of the Chairman and Managing Director

are held by Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson and Mr. Wong

Sue Toa, Stewart respectively. Code Provision A.2.1 of

the CG Code stipulates that the division of responsibilities

between the Chairman and Managing Director should

be set out in writing. Although the respective

responsibilities of the Chairman and Managing

Director are not set out in writing, power and authority

are not concentrated in one individual and all major

decisions are made in consultation with members of

the Board and appropriate Board committees, as well

as senior management. The Board is considering to

set out in writing the roles and duties of the Chairman

and the Managing Director in due course.

1.5

2.

A.2.1
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The Chairman provides leadership for the effective

functioning of the Board in the overall strategic

planning and development of the Group. With the

support of the Managing Director and senior

management, the Chairman is also responsible for

ensuring that the Directors receive adequate,

complete and reliable information in a timely manner

and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board

meetings.

The Managing Director focuses on implementing

objectives, policies and strategies approved by the

Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day

management and operations. The Managing Director

is also responsible for formulating the organisational

structure, control systems and internal procedures

and processes for the Board’s approval.

3. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company set up the Remuneration Committee

in December 2004 which replaced the Bonus

Commit tee es tab l ished in  December 2001.

Membership of the Remuneration Committee and the

individual attendance record at Remuneration

Committee Meetings are as follows:—

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Name of Percentage
Remuneration Committee Members

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson

(Remuneration Committee Chairman) 0/2 0%

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart 2/2 100%

Mr. Chan Pak Joe 2/2 100%

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 2/2 100%

Dr. Sun Tai Lun 2/2 100%

3.
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The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration

Committee include formulating remuneration policy

and practices and determining the remuneration

packages of the Executive Directors and the senior

management and performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for

ensuring that no Director or any of his associates (as

defined in the Listing Rules) will participate in deciding

his own remuneration. The committee shall consult

the Chairman and the Managing Director of the

Company  abou t  i t s  r e commenda t i ons  on

remuneration policy and remuneration packages.

In determining the remuneration, the Remuneration

Committee reviewed background information such as

key economic indicators, market/sector trend,

headcount and staff costs.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the

year ended 31 March 2010 and performed the

following works:—

• Reviewing and determining the change of

remuneration package for the Executive

Directors and senior management and the

change of remuneration package for other

emp loyees  o f  the  Group  fo r  the  yea r

commencing 1 April 2010; and

• Approving the maximum bonus pool and the

actual bonus amount to be distributed to the

Executive Directors, senior management and

other employees of the Group for the year ended

31 March 2009.
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4. AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the Company has been

established since December 2001. Membership of

the Audit Committee and the individual attendance

record at Audit Committee meetings are as follows:—

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Name of Percentage
Audit Committee Members

Dr. Sun Tai Lun

(Audit Committee Chairman) 2/2 100%

Mr. Chan Pak Joe 2/2 100%

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 2/2 100%

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a

partner or former partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,

the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the

following:—

• To review the financial statements and reports

and consider any significant or unusual items

raised by the qualified accountant or external

auditors before submission to the Board;

• To make recommendation to the Board on the

appointment, re-appointment and removal of

external auditors, to approve their remuneration

and terms of engagement and to review and

monitor the external auditors’ independence and

objectivity;

• To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the

Group’s financial reporting system, internal

control system and risk management system and

associated procedures; and

• To review the Group’s operating, financial and

accounting policies and practices.

4.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the

year and the major works performed are as follows:—

• Reviewing and recommending for the Board’s

approval the financial results and reports for the

year ended 31 March 2009 and for the six

months ended 30 September 2009;

• Rev i ew ing  t he  con t i nu ing  connec t ed

transactions of the Company for the year ended

31 March 2009;

• Recommending to the Board of the re-

appointment of external auditors for the year

ended 31 March 2010; and

• Reviewing certain aspects of the internal control

system of the Group.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31

March 2010 have been reviewed by the Audit

Committee.

5. OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES
In addition to delegating specific responsibilities to

the Remunerat ion Committee and the Audit

Committee, the Board also established two board

committees in April 2002 to handle the Company’s

general business and acquisition/disposal of property

within a designated threshold respectively, namely the

General Business Committee and the Property

Acquisition/Disposal Committee. Currently, the two

committees comprise all the four Executive Directors

of the Company. During the year ended 31 March

2010, the General Business Committee approved the

consolidation of share certificates and dealt with

matters in relation to the continuing connected

transactions with HKR International Limited for the

three years ending 31 March 2013 by way of written

resolutions.

5.
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6. RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The Board is responsible for the preparation of the

financial statements. In preparing the financial

statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

have been adopted, appropriate accounting policies

have been applied, and reasonable and prudent

judgments and estimates have been made.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditors

on the financial statements of the Company are set

out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages

89 to 91 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the

Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 are set

out below:—

HK$

Audit services 1,530,000

Non-audit services

Reviewing the financial results and

report for the six months ended

30 September 2009 260,000

Others 48,000

Total 1,838,000

6.

89 91
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7. INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate

internal control system to facilitate effective and

efficient operations, to safeguard assets, to prevent

and detect fraud and error, and to ensure the quality

and timely preparation of internal and external

reporting and compliance with applicable laws and

regulations.

The Company has maintained a tailored governance

structure with clear lines of responsibility and

appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority

to the senior management, who are accountable for

the conduct and performance of the respective

business divisions under their supervision.

The Chairman, Managing Director and General

Manager review monthly management reports on the

financial results, statistics and project progress of each

business. Monthly management meetings are held to

review business performance against budgets,

forecasts and risk management strategies. Any major

variances are highlighted for investigation and control

purposes.

A centralized cash management system is maintained

to oversee the Group’s investment and borrowing

activities. There are established guidelines and

procedures for  the approval  and contro l  of

expenditures. The aim is to keep the expenditure level

in line with the annual budget and within the cost

budget of an approved project. Expenditures are

subject to overall budget control with approval levels

set by reference to the level of responsibility of each

manager and officer. Depending on the nature and

value, procurement of certain goods and services are

required to go through the tendering process. No

individual in the Group, irrespective of their rank and

posit ion, are al lowed to dominate the entire

expenditure process from commitment to payment.

7.

,
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During the year under review, the Board has through

the Audit Committee conducted a review of the

effectiveness of certain aspects of the Group’s internal

control system. The result has been reported to the

Audit  Committee. There were no s igni f icant

weaknesses and areas for improvement have been

identified and appropriate measures taken.

8. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The general meetings of the Company provide a forum

for exchange of views between the shareholders and

the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as

Chairmen of the Remuneration Committee and Audit

Committee, or in their absence, other members of the

respective committees, and where applicable, the

independent Board committee, are available to answer

questions at the shareholders’ meetings.

Code Provision E.1.2 provides that the Chairman of

the Board of Directors should attend the annual

general meeting. The Chairman of the Board of

Directors, Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, was unable to

attend the annual general meeting of the Company

held on 4 August 2009 as he had other important

business engagement. However, the Managing

Director, present at the annual general meeting, took

the chair of that meeting in accordance with Article

78 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’

meetings on each substantial issue, including the

election of individual Directors.

8.

E.1.2

78
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To ensure compliance with the CG Code, the notice

of the meeting, the annual report and the circular

containing information on the proposed resolutions

will be sent to shareholders at least twenty clear

business days before the meeting. Voting at the 2010

AGM will be by way of a poll. An explanation of the

detailed procedures of conducting a poll will be

provided to shareholders at the commencement of

the annual  genera l  meet ing to  ensure that

shareholders are familiar with such procedures. The

results of the poll will be published on the day of

shareholders’ meeting by posting on both the Stock

Exchange’s and the Company’s websites.

The Company continues to enhance communications

and relationships with its investors. Enquiries from

investors are dealt with in an informative and timely

manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company

also maintains a website at www.hanison.com, where

extensive information and updates on the Company’s

business developments and operations, financial

information and other information are posted.

www.hanison.com
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The Directors present their report and the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March

2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company acts as an investment holding company. The

principal activities of its subsidiaries, associate and jointly

controlled entities are set out in notes 46, 19 and 20 to the

consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010

are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

92.

An interim dividend of HK1.5 cents per share amounting

to HK$6,649,000 were paid to the shareholders during the

year.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final

dividend of HK2.5 cents per share for the year ended

31 March 2010 amounting to HK$11,081,000 to the

shareholders whose names appear on the registers of

members on 10 August 2010. The proposed dividend will

be paid on 31 August 2010 following approval at the annual

general meeting.

The Board has also recommended a bonus issue (“Bonus

Issue”) of shares of HK$0.1 each in the capital of the

Company (“Bonus Share(s)”) on the basis of 1 Bonus Share,

credited as fully paid, for every 10 existing shares held by

the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on

the Registers of Members on 10 August 2010. The Bonus

Issue is conditional upon shareholders’ approval at the AGM

and the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) granting listing of, and

permission to deal in, the Bonus Shares.

46 19 20

92

1.5 6,649,000

2.5

11,081,000

0.10
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of the movements during the year in the investment

properties of the Group are set out in note 16 to the

consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements during the year in the property,

plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 17 to

the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

LISTED SECURITIES
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company’s listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE

COMPANY
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to

shareholders as at 31 March 2010 comprised the aggregate

of share premium, dividend reserve and retained profits of

HK$303,735,000 (2009: HK$284,814,000).

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, dividends

may be declared and paid out of the profits of the Company,

realised or unrealised, or from any reserves set aside from

profits which the Directors of the Company determine is no

longer needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution,

dividends may also be declared and paid out of share

premium account subject to a solvency test as set out in

section 34 of the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,

as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

16

17

303,735,000

284,814,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company’s existing share option scheme (the

“Scheme”) was adopted on 3 January 2002 and became

effective on 9 January 2002. Particulars of the Scheme as

required under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

(“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange are set out below:—

Summary of the Scheme
(a) Purpose of the Scheme

To provide the participants who have been granted

options under the Scheme to subscribe for ordinary

shares in the Company (“Shares”) with the opportunity

to acquire proprietary interest in the Company and to

encourage them to work towards enhancing the value

of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

All Directors (including Independent Non-executive

Directors), full-time employees and consultants of the

Company, its subsidiaries, and/or its associated

companies are eligible to participate in the Scheme.

(c) Maximum number of Shares available for
issuance

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued

upon exercise of all options to be granted under the

Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall

not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date

of approval of the Scheme. A total of 28,367,108

Shares is available for issue under the Scheme which

represents 10% of the issued share capital of the

Company as at the date of approval of the Scheme

and approximately 6.4% of the issued share capital

of the Company as at the date of this report.

(a)

(b)

(c)

10%

28,367,108

10%

6.4%
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The overall limit on the number of Shares which may

be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options

granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme

and any other schemes of the Company must not

exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(a) The total number of Shares issued and to be

issued upon exercise of the options granted to

each participant (including both exercised and

unexercised options) under the Scheme or any

other share option schemes adopted by the

Company in any 12-month period must not

exceed 1% of the Shares in issue unless

otherwise approved by shareholders of the

Company.

(b) Where any grant of options to a substantial

shareholder or an Independent Non-executive

Director of the Company, or any of their

respective associates (as defined in rule 1.01 of

the Listing Rules), would result in the Shares

issued and to be issued upon exercise of all

options already granted and to be granted to

such person in any 12-month period up to and

including the date of the grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the

Shares in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the

closing price of the Shares on date of grant

in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of option shall be subject to prior

approval of the shareholders of the Company

who are not connected persons of the Company

as defined in the Listing Rules.

30%

(d)

(a)

1%

(b)

1.01

(i) 0 . 1%

(ii) 5,000,000
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(e) Period within which the Shares must be taken
up under an option

Within ten years from the date on which an option is

granted or such shorter period as the Board of

Directors or the relevant committee thereof may

specify.

(f) Minimum period, if any, for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

At the time of granting an option, the Board of

Directors or the relevant committee thereof must

specify the minimum period(s) and/or achievement

of performance targets, if any, for which an option

must be held before it can be exercised.

Options may be exercised at any time after the

minimum periods of time held and/or achievement of

performance targets, if any, specified in the terms of

grant at the time of grant.

(g) Amount payable upon acceptance of the option
and the period within which the payment must
be made

HK$1 shall be paid within 14 days from the offer date

of the option.

(e)

(f)

(g)

1
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(h) Basis of determining exercise price of the option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than

the higher of:—

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the

daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock

Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a

business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated

in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock

Exchange for the five Stock Exchange business

days immediately preceding the date of grant;

and

(iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of

grant.

(i) Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on

3 January 2012 unless otherwise terminated in

accordance with the terms of the Scheme.

No option has been granted by the Company since the

adoption of the Scheme.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,

WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS
Save as disclosed above, the Company had no outstanding

convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights

as at 31 March 2010 and there has been no issue or

exercise of any convertible securities, options, warrants or

similar rights during the year.

(h)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(i)
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to

the date of this report were:—

Chairman and Non-executive Director:

Cha Mou Sing, Payson

Executive Directors:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)
Shen Tai Hing

Lam Chat Yu

Non-executive Directors:

Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Sun Tai Lun

Chan Pak Joe

Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin, Mr. Shen Tai
Hing, Mr. Tai Sai Ho and Mr. Wong Sue Toa Stewart shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election. All remaining directors continue in office.

The term of office of each Independent Non-executive
Director is the period up to his retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

116
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Directors
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, aged 68, is the Chairman and
a Non-executive Director of the Company. He joined the
Group in 1989 and has over 44 years of experience in
property development. He is the Chairman of Mingly
Corporation and HKR International Limited (“HKRI”) (a
controlling shareholder of the Company), a director of Asia
Television Limited (“ATV”), an Independent Non-executive
Director of New World Development Company Limited
(“NWDCL”), Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited (the
Manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust
(“CREIT”)) and Hongkong International Theme Parks
Limited, and a director of a number of public and private
companies in Hong Kong and overseas. HKRI, NWDCL and
CREIT are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cha holds an
honorary doctorate degree in Social Science from City
University of Hong Kong. He is a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and a Justice of the Peace. He is a brother of
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson and an uncle of Mr. Cha Yiu
C h u n g ,  B e n j a m i n ,  b o t h  o f  w h o m  a r e  t h e
Non-executive Directors and the deemed substantial
shareholders of the Company under Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance. Mr. Cha is also a director of CCM
Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”), a controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, aged 64, is the Managing

Director of the Company and joined the Group in 1989.

Before he joined the Group, he was a director for several

listed companies and a director of HKRI (a company listed

on the Stock Exchange and a controlling shareholder of

the Company) until his resignation in December 2001.

Mr. Wong is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the

Group. He has extensive experience in the construction

and real estate fields. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree in

science from San Diego State University and a master

degree of science in civil engineering from Carnegie-Mellon

University in the United States of America. He is a member

of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers

(MHKICM).

XV
CCM Trust

(Cayman) Limited CCM Trust

Carnegie-

Mellon University
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Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, aged 58, was appointed as a

Non-Executive Director in November 2001. He is the

Managing Director of Mingly Corporation, a director of ATV,

and a Non-executive Director of HKRI (a company listed

on the Stock Exchange and a controlling shareholder of the

Company). Mr. Cha is also an Independent Non-executive

Director of Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a Non-

executive Director of China International Capital Corporation

Limited. Mr. Cha is actively participating in many non-profit

making organizations including serving on the Counsel and

Finance Committee of The Chinese University of Hong

Kong. He is a brother of Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson and an

uncle of Mr. Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin.

Mr. Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin, aged 36, is a Non-executive

Director and joined the Group in November 2001. He gained

his experience in hotel and commercial real estate

development as a business development executive with

Mandarin Oriental Hotel Group from 1995 to 1999. Mr. Cha

is a member of the Business Facilitation Advisory Committee

of the HKSAR Government. He holds a bachelors degree

in international politics and economics from Middlebury

College and a master degree in business administration

from the Stanford Graduate School of Business in the United

States of America. Mr. Cha is a nephew of Mr. Cha Mou

Sing, Payson and Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson.

Mr. Chan Pak Joe, aged 57, was appointed an Independent
Non-executive Director in November 2001. He has been
an Executive Director of The Luk Hoi Tong Company Limited
for over 26 years. Mr. Chan is the founder of the “Li Zhi
Bursary” of Tsinghua University in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”). He is also the Vice Chairman of “Love
Relay Grant-in-Aid” of Fudan University in the PRC since
September 2005. His community services include having
served as a director of YMCA and as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the Hong
Kong Housing Society.

Middlebury College
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Dr. Lam Chat Yu, aged 58, is an Executive Director. He
joined the Group in November 2001 and has more than 20
years of investment experience in the technology sector,
including 15 years in Silicon Valley, California, the United
States of America and over 10 years in Asia. Dr. Lam is
also an Executive Director of Mingly Corporation and an
Alternate Director of Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited.
He was an Alternate Director of ATV until 4 March 2010.
Dr. Lam earned his doctorate in management from The
Sloan School, Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Prior
to joining the Group, Dr. Lam was a Vice President at C.M.
Capital Corporation in the United States of America, where
he specialised in software venture companies and listed
technology companies in the United States of America.

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, aged 51, was appointed an
Independent Non-executive Director in September 2004.
Dr. Lau is an Associate Professor of the Department of
Accountancy and Law of the Hong Kong Baptist University.
He holds a bachelor degree in commerce from Saint Mary’s
University in Canada, a master degree in business
administration from Dalhousie University in Canada and a
doctorate degree of philosophy in accounting from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario in Canada
(CA), a member of The Certified Management Accountants
Society of British Columbia and Yukon in Canada (CMA), a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (FCPA), and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong (ATIHK). He is Associate
Dean and BBA Program Director of the School of Business
of the Hong Kong Baptist University and was President
(1992-1993) of the City Lions Club of Hong Kong.

Mr. Shen Tai Hing, aged 68, was appointed an Executive

Director in November 2001. He had been a Director of HKRI

(a company listed on the Stock Exchange and a controlling

shareholder of the Company) since 1994 until his

resignation in December 2001. Mr. Shen is also a director

of two subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Shen obtained his

master degree from the University of Pittsburgh in the

United States of America.

The Sloan School

C.M. Capital Corporation

Saint
Mary's University Dalhousie
University

 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of
O n t a r i o T h e  C e r t i f i e d  M a n a g e m e n t
Accountants Society of British Columbia and
Yukon

(1992-1993
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Dr. Sun Tai Lun, aged 59, was appointed an Independent

Non-executive Director in November 2001. He is the

Chairman of China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings

Limited and an Independent Non-executive Director of Dah

Sing Financial Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed

on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Sun has over 34 years of

experience in the photographic products industry. He holds

a bachelor degree in pharmacy from the University of

Oklahoma, the United States of America, and a doctorate

degree of philosophy in business administration from

Southern California University for Professional Studies, the

United States of America. He is the Vice Patron of the

Community Chest of Hong Kong since 1999 and a court

member of the City University of Hong Kong. Dr. Sun also

serves as the Chairman of the Advisory Committee on Travel

Agents. Dr. Sun was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in

1999 and appointed as The Justice of the Peace in 2002.

Mr. Tai Sai Ho, aged 59, is an Executive Director and the

General Manager of the Group. Mr. Tai joined the Group in

1989 and has over 35 years of experience in public and

private sectors of the building and civil engineering

industries in Hong Kong. He is also a director of all the

subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Tai holds a master degree in

business administration from Asia International Open

University in Macau, a master degree in construction

management from University of New South Wales in

Australia and a bachelor degree in civil engineering from

National Cheng Kung University in Taiwan. Mr. Tai is a fellow

of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD) and the

Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers (FHKICM).

Southern California

University for Professional Studies
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Senior Management
Mr. Chow Ka Fung, Matthew, aged 41, joined the Group in

1998 and is a director of the Property Development Division

and Property Investment Division as well as Property Agency

and Management Division of the Group. He specialises in

property development, investment, marketing, management

and project management in Hong Kong and the PRC for

more than 18 years. He holds a bachelor degree in land

management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chow is a Registered Professional Surveyor (General

Practice) under the Surveyor Registration Board (RPS). He

is also a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered

Surveyors (MRICS), a member of the Chartered Institute of

Arbitrators (MCIArb) and a member of Hong Kong Institute

of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Mr. Chuk Kin Lun, aged 59, joined the Group in 1989. He

is a director of the Construction Division, Building Materials

Division and Interior and Renovation Division of the Group.

He has over 30 years of experience in planning, estimating,

tendering and quantity surveying in the public and private

sectors of the building and civil engineering industries in

Hong Kong. Mr. Chuk holds a bachelor degree in civil

engineering and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of

Construction Managers (MHKICM).

Mr. Ho Chi Tong, aged 45, was appointed a director of the

Construction Division in November 2009. He is also a

director of the Building Materials Division and Interior and

Renovation Division of the Group. He joined the Group in

1998 and has 23 years of experience in quantity surveying

consultancy and construction contracting. He holds a

professional diploma in quantity surveying from The Hong

Kong Polytechnic University. He is a Registered Professional

Surveyor (QS) under Surveyor Registration Board (RPS) and

a member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

(MRICS) and Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).
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Mr. Lai Yau Sing, aged 56, joined the Group in 2007. He is

a director and the General Manager of the Building Materials

Division of the Group and has over 28 years of experience

in the building industry in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the

Group, Mr. Lai held the position of the Managing Director

of Million Hope Industries Limited. Mr. Lai holds a master

degree in business administration from the University of

Wales, College of Cardiff and is a fellow of the Hong Kong

Institute of Marketing (FHKIM).

Mr. Lee Cheuk Hung, aged 44, joined the Group in 2007.

He is a director and the Assistant General Manager of the

Building Materials Division of the Group and has over 24

years of experience in the building industry in Hong Kong.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lee held the position of the

Director of Million Hope Industries Limited. Mr. Lee holds

a higher diploma in mechanical engineering.

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, Casey, aged 59, joined the Group in

1996 and is the Company Secretary and the Financial

Controller of the Group. He is also a director of the Building

Materials Division, Interior and Renovation Division and

Property and Project Management Division of the Group.

He has over 26 years of finance and accounting experience

in various industries. He holds a bachelor of business

degree in accounting and a master degree in business

administration from Edith Cowan University in Australia.

Mr. Lo is a member of CPA Australia (CPA (Aust.)) and a

fellowship member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (FCPA) and Association of International

Accountants (FAIA).

University of Wales

College of Cardiff

Edith

Cowan University
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Mr. Lun Tim Ho, aged 51, joined the Group in 1990 and is

a director of the Construction Division and Interior and

Renovation Division of the Group. Mr. Lun has 27 years of

experience in the construction field. He holds an

associateship and a higher diploma in the building

technology and management from The Hong Kong

Polytechnic University. He is a member of The Chartered

Institute of Building (MCIOB), Hong Kong Institute of

Construction Managers (MHKICM), Royal Institution of

Chartered Surveyors (MRICS), The Hong Kong Institute of

Surveyors (MHKIS), and The Hong Kong Institution of

Engineers — Building (MHKIE).

Mr. Yuen Cheuk Kong, aged 50, joined the Group in 1989.

He is a director of the Construction Division, Building

Materials Division and Interior and Renovation Division of

the Group. He has over 21 years of experience in the public

and private sectors of the building and civil engineering

industr ies in Hong Kong. He holds a diploma in

management studies, a post-experience certificate in

building studies and a higher certificate in structural

engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

and a bachelor degree in Construction Management and

Economics. He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute

of Construction Managers (MHKICM).

Mr. Yuen Yui Mun, aged 54, joined the Group in May 2007.

He is a director of the Building Materials Division of the

Group and has over 21 years of experience in the building

industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen holds a bachelor degree

in construction engineering management and an EMBA

degree. He is a member of The Chartered Institute of

Building (MCIOB), American Institute of Construction (AIC),

Hong Kong Institute of Construction Manager (MHKICM)

and The Society of Environment Engineers (MSEE).

American Institute of

Construction The Society

of Environment Engineers
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT

POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 March 2010, the interests of the directors and

chief executive in the shares of the Company as recorded

in the register required to be kept by the Company under

Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified

to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:—

Long position in shares of the Company

XV 352

Total % of
Number of ordinary shares number issued

of ordinary share
Personal Corporate Other shares capital

Name Capacity interests interests interests

Cha Mou Sing, Beneficial owner, 459,541 512,616 104,263,263 105,235,420 23.74%
Payson interest of controlled note (a) note (b)

corporation and beneficiary
of discretionary trusts

 (a)  (b)

Cha Mou Daid, Beneficiary of — — 105,783,769 105,783,769 23.87%
Johnson discretionary trusts note (b)

 (b)

Cha Yiu Chung, Beneficiary of — — 104,263,263 104,263,263 23.52%
Benjamin discretionary trusts note (b)

 (b)

Wong Sue Toa, Beneficial owner and 3,718,409 2,823,786 — 6,542,195 1.48%
Stewart interest of controlled note (c)

corporation
 (c)

Tai Sai Ho Beneficial owner 376,875 — — 376,875 0.09%

Shen Tai Hing Beneficial owner 8,202 — — 8,202 0.0019%



HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 / 2010

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

78

Notes:

(a) The shares are held by Accomplished Investments Ltd., in
which the relevant director is deemed to be interested by
virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

(b) These shares are held under certain discretionary trusts,
of which Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson and Mr. Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin are among the
members of the class of discretionary beneficiaries under
certain but not identical discretionary trusts.

(c) Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart’s corporate interests in the
Company arise from the fact that he owns 50% of the share
capital of Executive Plaza Limited, which holds 2,823,786
shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the

directors and chief executive of the Company or their

associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,

underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any

of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part

XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of

the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code, or which were

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE

SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was

the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any

arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to

acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,

or debt securities (including debentures) of the Company

or any other body corporate and none of the directors, or

their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any

rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had

exercised any such rights during the year.

(a) XV

Accomplished Investments Ltd.

(b)

(c)

2,823,786

XV

XV 352

XV
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS
During the year, the interests of directors in the businesses

which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or

indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (the “Competing

Business”) as required to be disclosed pursuant to the

Listing Rules were as follows:—

Name of director Name of company Nature of interest Competing business

(note 3)

3

Cha Mou Sing, Payson HKRI Director of HKRI (a) Property

(note 1) and a member of the development and

class of discretionary investment

beneficiaries of (b) Property

certain discretionary management,

trusts of which the leasing and

trustees are deemed marketing services

substantial shareholders

of HKRI under Part XV

of the SFO

(a)

1 (b)

XV

NWDCL Independent non-executive (a) Property

director of NWDCL development and

investment

(b) Property

management,

leasing and

marketing services

(a)

(b)
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Name of director Name of company Nature of interest Competing business

(note 3)
3

CREIT Independent non-executive (a) Property investment
director of Eagle Asset (b) Property management,
Management (CP) Limited, leasing and marketing
the manager of CREIT services

(a)
(b)

Cha Mou Daid, HKRI Director of HKRI (a) Property
Johnson (note 1) and a member of the development and

class of discretionary investment
beneficiaries of (b) Property
certain discretionary management,
trusts of which the leasing and
trustees are deemed marketing
substantial shareholders services
of HKRI under Part
XV of the SFO

(a)
1 (b)

XV

Cha Yiu Chung, HKRI A member of the (a) Property
Benjamin (note 1) class of discretionary development and

beneficiaries of investment
certain discretionary (b) Property
trusts of which the management,
trustees are deemed leasing and
substantial shareholders marketing
of HKRI under Part XV services
of the SFO

(a)
1 (b)

XV
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Name of director Name of company Nature of interest Competing business

(note 3)

3

Lam Chat Yu Regal Succeed Director (a) Property

(note 2) Limited management,

leasing and

marketing

services in the PRC

Regal Succeed (a) 

2 Limited

Notes:

(1) Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson
and Mr. Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin are non-executive
directors of the Company, who are not involved in the daily
management of the Group. Accordingly, the Company is
capable of carrying on its business independently of, and
at arms length from the above mentioned competing
business.

(2) Mr. Lam Chat Yu is an executive director of the Company
and is interested in competing business because of his
capacity as a director of Regal Succeed Limited, whose
wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC is engaged in competing
business as stated above.

(3) Such businesses may be made through subsidiaries,
affiliated companies or by way of other forms of investments.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors is interested

in any business apart from the Group’s businesses, which

competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,

with businesses of the Group.

(1)

(2)
Regal Succeed

Limited

(3)
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 March 2010, in addition to those interests as

disclosed above in respect of the directors, the interests of

the substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company as recorded in the register required

to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of Part XV of

the SFO were as follows:—

Long position in shares of the Company
Number of % of issued

Name Capacity ordinary shares share capital

Great Wisdom Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 217,185,676 49.0%
(“Great Wisdom”) (note 1) 1

HKRI (note 1) Beneficial owner and 217,185,957 49.0%
1 interest of controlled

corporation

CCM Trust (note 2) 2 Trustee and 309,462,565 69.82%
interests of controlled
corporations

Notes:

(1) Great Wisdom is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HKRI and
therefore HKRI is deemed to be interested in the
217,185,676 shares held by Great Wisdom in accordance
with the SFO. Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson and Mr. Cha Mou
Daid, Johnson, both of whom are directors of the Company,
are also directors of HKRI.

(2) These share interests comprise 78,134,996 shares directly
held by CCM Trust, 217,185,957 shares indirectly held
through HKRI and 14,141,612 shares indirectly held
through CDW Holdings Limited. As CCM Trust controls more
than one-third of the share capital of each of HKRI (held as
to approximately 44.05% by CCM Trust) and CDW Holdings
Limited (held as to approximately 52.24% by CCM Trust),
it is deemed to be interested in the respective share interests
of these companies. CCM Trust is holding these shares as
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which members of the
Cha Family (comprising, inter alia, Mr. Cha Mou Sing,
Payson, Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson and Mr. Cha Yiu Chung,
Benjamin, all being the directors of the Company) are among
the discretionary objects. Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson is also
a director of CCM Trust.

XV

336

(1) Great Wisdom

Great Wisdom 217,185,676

(2) CCM Trust
78,134,996 217,185,957

14,141,612
CDW Holdings Limited

CCM Trust CCM Trust
44.05% CDW Holdings Limited CCM
Trust 52.24%

CCM Trust

CCM Trust
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the

Company has not been notified by any persons (other than

directors and chief executive of the Company) who had

any interests in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company which were recorded in the register required to

be kept by the Company under Section 336 of Part XV of

the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN

CONTRACTS AND CONTINUING

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group entered

into the following transactions which constituted continuing

connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules:—

(1) Construction and Renovation Services
Framework Agreement
As HKRI is a substantial shareholder of the Company

and therefore a connected person of the Company

under the Listing Rules, the various construction

transactions (“Construction Transactions”) and

renovation transactions (“Renovation Transactions”)

entered into or to be entered into between HKRI and

its subsidiaries on the one hand and the members of

the Group on the other hand constitute continuing

connected transactions (“Continuing Connected

Transactions with HKRI”) for the purposes of the

Listing Rules.

On 30 January 2007, HKRI and the Company entered

into the Construction and Renovation Services

Framework Agreement (“Agreement”) to govern the

outline terms upon which HKRI and its subsidiaries

and members of the Group propose to engage in the

various Construction Transactions and Renovation

Transactions during the three years ending 31 March

2010. An announcement was publ ished on

31 January 2007 regarding the Continuing Connected

Transactions with HKRI in accordance with the Listing

Rules.

XV 336

14A

(1)
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The Agreement,  i ts  terms, the t ransact ions

contemplated thereunder and the annual caps

(“Cap”) on the total value of the Continuing Connected

Transactions with HKRI were approved by an ordinary

resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting

of the Company held on 21 March 2007.

The Cap and the total income recognised by the Group

in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions

with HKRI for the year ended 31 March 2010 are

stated below:—

Income Recognised by the
Group for the Year Ended

31 March 2010
Type of Transaction Cap

HK$ HK$

Construction Transactions 450,000,000 147,248,000

Renovation Transactions 20,000,000 62,000

(2) Project Management Service Agreements
On 1 April 2009, a Cross-border Project Management

Service Agreement and a Non-PRC Project Management

Service Agreement were entered into between Hanison

Project Management Limited (“HPML”), a wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company and the Haining Project

Companies (note A) pursuant to which HPML will provide

project management services in both Hong Kong and

the PRC to the Haining Project Companies (“Project

Management Services”).

The Haining Project Companies are indirect wholly

owned subsidiaries of Vertex Investments Group

Limited (“VIGL”) which is in turn indirectly wholly

owned by CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited. CCM Trust

(Cayman) Limited (as the trustee of a discretionary

trust of which members of the Cha Family, comprising,

(2)

A

VIGL

VIGL CCM Trust  (Cayman)

L im i t ed CCM T rus t

(Cayman) Limited
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inter alia, Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, Mr. Cha Mou

Daid, Johnson and Mr. Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin, all

being the directors of the Company, are among the

discretionary objects) is a substantial shareholder of

the Company. Accordingly, the Haining Project

Companies are connected persons of the Company

and the provision of Project Management Services

constitutes continuing connected transactions for the

purpose of the Listing Rules.

The transactions for the provision of Project

Management  Serv ices  a re  on l y  sub jec t  t o

announcement and reporting requirements and no

independent shareholders’ approval of the Company

is required under the Listing Rules. The Agreement,

its terms, the transactions contemplated thereunder

and the annual caps (“Cap”) on the total value of the

continuing connected transactions (“Continuing

Connected Transactions with Haining Project

Companies”) were approved by the board of directors

and an announcement in relation thereto was made

on 1 April 2009.

The Cap and the total income recognised by the Group

in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions

with Haining Project Companies for the year ended

31 March 2010 are stated below:—

Income Recognised by the
Group for the Year Ended

31 March 2010
Type of Transaction Cap

HK$ HK$

Project management
services transactions

• Project management services
income on project management
services transactions with
Haining Project Companies
as defined in the Company’s
announcement dated 1 April 2009

•

4,131,000 4,131,000
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the

board of directors of the Company engaged the auditor

of the Company to perform certain agreed upon

procedures in respect of the continuing connected

transactions. The auditor has reported its factual

findings on these procedures to the board of directors

of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors reviewed the

continuing connected transactions described in (1)

and (2) above (collectively the “Continuing Connected

Transactions”) and confirmed that the transactions

had been entered into:—

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of

the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less

favourable to the Group than terms available to

(or from) independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the agreements governing

such transactions on terms that are fair and

reasonable and in the interests  o f  the

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance

to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a

party and in which a director of the Company had a

material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during

the year.

Note:

A. Haining Project Companies are indirect wholly owned
subsidiaries of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited, which
is a substantial shareholder of the Company and they
refer to:

 (Translation: Haining
Fusheng Real Estate Development Limited); 

 (Translation: Haining Jiafeng Real
Estate Development Limited); 

 (Translation: Haining Haicheng Real Estate
Development Limited); and 
(Translation: Haining Haixing Hotel Development
Limited).

14A.38

(1) (2)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

A. CCM Trust (Cayman)
Limited CCM Trust
(Cayman) Limited
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year, the five largest customers of the Group

accounted for about 52% of the turnover of the Group and

the largest customer accounted for about 18% of the

turnover of the Group. A subsidiary of HKRI, which is the

second largest customer, accounted for about 17% of the

total turnover. Save as disclosed above, none of the

directors, their respective associates, or any shareholders

(which to the knowledge of the directors own more than

5% of the Company’s share capital) has any interest in any

of the five largest customers of the Group for the financial

year ended 31 March 2010.

The five largest suppliers of the Group in aggregate

accounted for less than 30% of the total purchases of the

Group for the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in making

mandatory contributions for its staff. Details of charges

relating to the retirement benefit schemes are set out in

note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the

Company and within the knowledge of its directors, the

Company has maintained a sufficient public float of not

less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required

under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Company’s Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman

Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

52% 18%

17%

5%

30%

43

25%



HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 / 2010

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

88

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable donations

amounting to HK$20,000.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be proposed at the annual general meeting

of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche

Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Managing Director
22 June 2010

20,000
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TO THE MEMBERS OF

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)

and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)

set out on pages 92 to 197, which comprise the

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March

2010, and the consolidated income statement, the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then

ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies

and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the

preparation and the true and fair presentation of these

consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance. This responsibil ity includes designing,

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to

the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the

consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and

applying appropriate accounting policies; and making

account ing est imates that are reasonable in the

circumstances.

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited

Hanison Construction

Holdings Limited

92

197
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

consolidated financial statements based on our audit and

to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and in

accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for

no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards

or accept liability to any other person for the contents of

this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as

to whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected

depend on the auditor ’s judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor

considers internal control relevant to the Group’s

preparation and true and fair presentation of the

consolidated financial statements in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the

overal l  presentation of the consol idated f inancial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.
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OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at

31 March 2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows

for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly

prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 June 2010
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2010 2009

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 7 884,370 1,828,475

Cost of sales (800,140) (1,723,973)

Gross profit 84,230 104,502

Other income 9 4,957 2,346

Marketing and distribution costs (8,420) (8,789)

Administrative expenses (88,558) (84,766)

Gain (loss) on change in fair value

of investment properties 73,629 (68,609)

Gain (loss) on change in fair value

of investments held for trading 1,046 (1,272)

Gain (loss) on change in fair value

of derivative financial instruments 3,154 (58)

Share of profit (loss) of an associate 921 (3,483)

Share of profit

of jointly controlled entities 57,768 3,045

Finance costs 10 (5,313) (9,242)

Profit (loss) before taxation 11 123,414 (66,326)

Taxation (charge) credit 13 (14,213) 6,960

Profit (loss) for the year 109,201 (59,366)

Earnings (loss) per share-basic

(HK cents) 15 24.6 (13.4)
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2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) for the year 109,201 (59,366)

Other comprehensive income

and expenses

Exchange differences arising

on translation of

foreign operations 79 (527)

Surplus on revaluation of properties — 982

Other comprehensive income

for the year 79 455

Total comprehensive income

and expense for the year 109,280 (58,911)
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2010 2009

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment properties 16 577,080 535,320
Property, plant and equipment 17 98,264 91,484
Prepaid lease payments 18 6,620 6,800
Interest in an associate 19 16,038 15,717
Interests in jointly

controlled entities 20 70,165 3,397
Goodwill 21 — —

768,167 652,718

Current assets
Properties under development

for sale 22 404,519 333,252
Inventories 23 38,293 34,139
Amounts receivable on

contract work 24 157,353 197,778
Progress payments receivable 25 32,149 48,066
Retention money receivable 26 107,036 148,118
Debtors, deposits and

prepayments 27 51,127 51,614
Prepaid lease payments 18 201 200
Amount due from a jointly

controlled entity 28 58,415 69,638
Investments held for trading 29 338 4,423
Taxation recoverable 1,494 495
Derivative financial instruments 30 1,291 221
Bank balances and cash 31 186,944 195,643

1,039,160 1,083,587

Current liabilities
Amounts payable on

contract work 24 129,400 119,253
Trade and other payables

32 257,434 299,351
Obligation under a finance lease

due within one year 33 — 44
Taxation payable 2,323 1,690
Derivative financial instruments 30 — 205
Bank loans — amounts due  

within one year 34 554,300 556,713

943,457 977,256

Net current assets 95,703 106,331

Total assets less current liabilities 863,870 759,049
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2010 2009

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans — amounts due  

after one year 34 76,000 80,500

Deferred taxation 35 37,678 26,556

113,678 107,056

750,192 651,993

Capital and reserves

Share capital 36 44,324 44,324

Reserves 705,868 607,669

750,192 651,993

The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 197

were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 22 June 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart Tai Sai Ho

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR 

92 197
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Property Accumulated
Share Contributed Special revaluation Translation Goodwill Dividend profit

capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve (losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 37) (note 37)
37 37

At 1 April 2008
44,324 18,077 21,941 — — (78 ) 11,081 628,856 724,201

Loss for the year — — — — — — — (59,366 ) (59,366 )
Exchange differences

arising on translation
of foreign operations — — — — (527 ) — — — (527 )

Surplus on revaluation
of properties — — — 982 — — — — 982

Total comprehensive
income and expense
for the year — — — 982 (527 ) — — (59,366 ) (58,911 )

Final dividend paid
in respect
of the year ended
31 March 2008 — — — — — — (11,081 ) — (11,081 )

Interim dividend
paid in respect
of the year ended
31 March 2009 — — — — — — — (2,216 ) (2,216 )

Proposed final
dividend
in respect
of the year ended
31 March 2009 — — — — — — 4,432 (4,432 ) —

At 31 March 2009
44,324 18,077 21,941 982 (527 ) (78 ) 4,432 562,842 651,993

Profit for the year — — — — — — — 109,201 109,201
Exchange differences

arising on translation
of foreign operations — — — — 79 — — — 79

Total comprehensive
income for the year — — — — 79 — — 109,201 109,280

Final dividend paid
in respect
of the year ended
31 March 2009 — — — — — — (4,432 ) — (4,432 )

Interim dividend paid
in respect
of the year ended
31 March 2010 — — — — — — — (6,649 ) (6,649 )

Proposed final dividend
in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2010

— — — — — — 11,081 (11,081 ) —

At 31 March 2010
44,324 18,077 21,941 982 (448 ) (78 ) 11,081 654,313 750,192
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2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss) before taxation 123,414 (66,326)
Adjustments for:

Share of (profit) loss
of an associate (921) 3,483

Share of profit
of jointly controlled entities (57,768) (3,045)

Dividend income (64) (47)
Interest income (20) (209)
Interest expense 5,313 9,242
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 3,483 4,057
Release of prepaid lease payments 201 17
(Gain) loss on disposal

of property, plant
and equipment (1,399) 1,210

(Gain) loss on change in fair
value of investment properties (73,629) 68,609

Gain on change in fair value
of derivative financial
instruments (1,291) (16)

(Gain) loss on change
in fair value of investments
held for trading (1,046) 1,272

Write off of retention receivable 134 —
Impairment loss recognised

on trade debtors 2,000 534
Impairment loss on property,

plant and equipment — 2,145
Impairment loss

on prepaid lease payments — 383
Impairment loss on goodwill — 2,980

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital (1,593) 24,289

(Increase) decrease in inventories (4,154) 8,541
Increase in properties

under development for sale (40,536) (51,810)
Decrease in amounts receivable

on contract work 53,453 116,724
Decrease in progress payments

receivable 15,917 69,235
Decrease (increase) in retention

money receivable 40,948 (31,655)
(Increase) decrease in debtors,

deposits and prepayments (1,513) 22,849
Increase in amounts payable

on contract work 10,147 28,221
Decrease in trade

and other payables (41,917) (21,717)
Increase in derivative

financial instruments 16 336
Decrease in investments held

for trading 5,131 —
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2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash from operating activities 35,899 165,013
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (3,457) (3,551)
Interest paid (8,471) (14,659)

Net cash from operating activities 23,971 146,803

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 20 209
Dividend received 64 47
Dividend received from

an associate 600 —
Dividend received from

a jointly controlled entity 1,000 4,400
Purchase of investment properties (1,661) (17,449)
Purchase of prepaid

lease payment — (7,368)
Purchase of property,

plant and equipment (17,325) (38,075)
Repayment from a jointly

controlled entity 11,223 —
Advance to a jointly

controlled entity — (2,494)
Proceeds from disposal of

property, plant and equipment 1,481 136
Capital distribution from a jointly

controlled entity — 8,000
Capital injection to jointly

controlled entities (10,000) —

Net cash used in investing activities (14,598) (52,594)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (11,081) (13,297)
Repayment of bank loans (46,913) (272,650)
Repayment of obligation

under a finance lease (44) (87)
New bank loans raised 40,000 239,800

Net cash used in financing activities (18,038) (46,234)

Net (decrease) increase in cash
and cash equivalents (8,665) 47,975

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the year 195,643 148,374

Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes (34) (706)

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year,
representing bank balances
and cash 186,944 195,643
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1. GENERAL
The Company is an exempted company incorporated

in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the

Companies Law (2001 Second Revision), Chapter 22

of the Laws of Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed

on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered

office and principal place of business of the Company

are disclosed in the corporate information section of

the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented

in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the functional

currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and

the principal activities of its subsidiaries are building

construction, interior and renovation works, supply

and installation of building materials, trading of health

products, property investment, property agency and

management and property development.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries

(collectively referred to as the “Group”) have applied

a number of new and revised Standards, Amendments

and Interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”)

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

Except as described below, the adoption of the new

and revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on

the consolidated financial statements of the Group

for the current or prior accounting periods.

1.

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting
presentation and disclosure only
HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of financial
statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology

changes (including revised titles for the consolidated

financial statements) and changes in the format and

content of the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating segments

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has resulted

in a change in the basis of measurement of segment

profit or loss, segment assets and segment liabilities.

Improv ing  d isc losures  about  f i nanc ia l
instruments (amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
instruments: Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures

required in relation to fair value measurements in

respect of financial instruments which are measured

at fair value. The amendments also expand and

amend the disclosures required in relation to liquidity

risk. The Group has not provided comparative

information for the expanded disclosures in

accordance with the transitional provision set out in

the amendments.

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new

a n d  r e v i s e d  S t a n d a r d s ,  A m e n d m e n t s  o r

Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5

as part of improvements

to HKFRSs 20081

HKFRSs (Amendments) I m p r o v e m e n t s  t o

HKFRSs 20092

HKFRSs (Amendments) I m p r o v e m e n t s  t o

HKFRSs 20103

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures7

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate

financial statements1

HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of rights

issues5

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible hedged items1

HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Additional exemptions

for first-time adopters4

HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Limited exemption from

comparative HKFRS 7

disclosures for first-time

adopters6

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) G roup  cash -se t t l ed

share-based payment

transactions4

2.

1

2

3

7

1

5

1

4

6

4
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations1

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments8

HK(IFRIC*) — INT 14 Prepayments of a

(Amendment) m i n i m u m  f u n d i n g

requirement7

HK(IFRIC) — INT 17 Distributions of non-

cash assets to owners1

HK(IFRIC) — INT 19 Extinguishing financial

l iabil it ies with equity

instruments6

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2009.

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010,
as appropriate.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2010 and 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
February 2010.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2010.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013.

* IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee.

2.

1

8

7

 

1

 

6

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the

Group’s accounting for business combination for

which the acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2010.

HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting

treatment for changes in a parent’s ownership interest

in a subsidiary.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” introduces new

requirements for the classification and measurement

of financial assets and will be effective to the Group

from 1 April 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Standard requires all recognised financial assets

that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial

instruments: Recognition and measurement” to be

measured at either amortised cost or fair value.

Specifically, debt investments that (i) are held within

a business model whose objective is to collect the

contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal outstanding are generally measured

at amortised cost. All other debt investments and

equity investments are measured at fair value. The

application of HKFRS 9 might affect the classification

and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the

application of the other new and revised Standards,

Amendments or Interpretations will have no material

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.

9

(i)

(ii)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared on the historical cost basis except for the

investment propert ies and certa in f inancia l

instruments, which are measured at fair values, as

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the

HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial

statements include applicable disclosures required

by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the

financial statements of the Company and entities

controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up

to 31 March each year. Control is achieved where the

Company has the power to govern the financial and

operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits

from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of

during the year are included in the consolidated

income statement from the effect ive date of

acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as

appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the

financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their

accounting policies into line with those used by other

members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and

expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination
The acquisition of business is accounted for using

the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is

measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the

date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred

or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the

Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus

any costs directly attributable to the business

combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,

liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the

conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business

combinations” are recognised at their fair values at

the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an

asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess

of the cost of the business combination over the

Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net

fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities

and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the

business combination, the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is

carried at cost less any accumulated impairment

losses and is presented separately in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill

arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the

relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-

generating units, that are expected to benefit from

the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating

unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for

impairment annually, and whenever there is an

indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill

arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-

generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated

is tested for impairment before the end of that financial

year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit is less than the carrying amount of

the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce

the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the

unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro

rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset

in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is

recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment

loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the

attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included

in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on

disposal.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the

consideration received or receivable and represents

amounts receivable for goods sold and services

provided in the normal course of business, net of

discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from construction contracts, interior and

renovation contracts and building materials installation

contracts is recognised using the percentage of

completion method by reference to the value of work

carried out during the year as determined by

quantitative surveyors’ reports.

Income from sale of properties is recognised when

the respective properties have been completed and

delivered to the buyers.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the

goods are delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are

provided.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when

the Group’s rights to receive payment has been

established.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on

a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding

and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is

the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future

cash receipts through the expected life of the financial

asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn

rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are

measured at cost, including any directly attributable

expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,

investment properties are measured at their fair values

using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from

changes in the fair value of investment property are

included in profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal

or when the investment property is permanently

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits

are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss

arising on derecognition of the assets (calculated as

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and

the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the

profit or loss in the period in which the item is

derecognised.

Transfer from investment property to property
under development for sale

If an item of investment property becomes a property

under development for sale because its use has

changed as evidenced by commencement of

development with a view to sale, the deemed cost for

subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of

change in use.

Transfer from investment property to owner-
occupied property

If an item of investment property becomes a leasehold

land and building for own use because its use has

changed as evidenced by commencement of owner-

occupation, the deemed cost of the property for

subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of

change in use.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including land and

buildings held for own use other than properties under

development are stated at cost less subsequent

accumulated depreciat ion and accumulated

impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items

of property, plant and equipment other than properties

under development over their estimated useful lives

and after taking into account of their estimated

residual value, using the straight-line method.

Properties under development includes property, in

the course of construction for its own use purposes.

Properties under development is carried at cost less

accumulated impairment loss. Properties under

development is classified to a separate category of

property, plant and equipment when completed and

ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,

on the same basis as other property assets,

commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over

their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned

assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is

derecognised upon disposal or when no future

economic benefits are expected to arise from the

continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising

on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the

carrying amount of the item) is included in the profit

or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Transfer from owner-occupied property to
property under development for sale

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes

a property under development for sale because its

use has changed as evidenced by commencement

of development with a view to sale, the whole carrying

amount of the building portion prior to demolition is

written off to profit or loss with the deemed cost for

subsequent accounting represents its carrying amount

of land portion at the date of change in use.

Transfer from owner-occupied property to
investment property

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes

an investment property because its use has changed

as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any

difference between the carrying amount and the fair

value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale

or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation

reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated

profits.

Prepaid lease payments
Prepaid lease payments represent the up-front

payments to lease medium-term leasehold land

interests in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)

and are charged to the consolidated income statement

on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant

lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings under
development for future owner-occupied
purpose
When the leasehold land and buildings are in the

course of development for production or for

administrat ive purposes, the leasehold land

component is classified as a prepaid lease payment

and released over a straight-line basis over the lease

term. During the construction period, the amount of

the leasehold land released is included as part of costs

of properties under construction. Properties under

construction are carried at cost, less any identified

impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings

commences when they are available for use (i.e. when

they are in the location and condition necessary for

them to be capable of operating in the manner

intended by management).

Properties under development for sale
Properties under development for sale are carried at

the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost

includes land cost, development costs and directly

attributable costs including, for qualifying assets,

borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the

Group’s accounting policy.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the investor has

significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary

nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence

is the power to participate in the financial and

operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are

incorporated in these consol idated f inancial

statements using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, investments in associates

are carried in the consolidated statement of financial

position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition

changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the

associate, less any identified impairment loss. When

the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or

exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes

any long-term interests that, in substance, form part

of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the

Group discontinues recognising its share of further

losses. An additional share of losses is provided for

and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the

Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations

or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value

of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after assessment,

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of

the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the

extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Joint ventures
Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the

establishment of a separate entity in which venturers

have joint control over the economic activity of the

entity are referred to as jointly controlled entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly

controlled entities are incorporated in the consolidated

financial statements using the equity method of

accounting. Under the equity method, investments

in jointly controlled entities are carried in the

consolidated statement of financial position at cost

as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the

Group’s share of the net assets of the jointly controlled

entities, less any identified impairment loss. When the

Group’s share of losses of a jointly controlled entity

equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled

entity (which includes any long-term interests that, in

substance, form part of the Group’s net investment

in the jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues

recognising its share of further losses. An additional

share of losses is provided for and a liability is

recognised only to the extent that the Group has

incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value

of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

l iabi l i t ies over the cost of  acquis i t ion, af ter

reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled

entity of the Group, profits or losses are eliminated to

the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly

controlled entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted

average method.

Construction, interior and renovation
and installation of building materials
contracts
Where the outcome of a construction, interior and

renovation or installation of building materials contract

can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are

recognised by reference to the stage of completion of

the contract activity at the end of the reporting period,

as measured by surveys of work performed. Variations

in contract work, claims and incentive payments are

included to the extent that the amount can be

measured reliably and its receipt is considered

probable.

Where the outcome of a construction, interior and

renovation or installation of building materials contract

cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is

recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred

that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs

are recognised as expenses in the period in which

they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed

total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised

as an expense immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Construction, interior and renovation
and installation of building materials
contracts (Continued)

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised

profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,

the surplus is shown as amounts receivable on

contract work. For contracts where progress billings

exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised

profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown

as amounts payable on contract work. Amounts

received before the related work is performed are

included in the consolidated statement of financial

position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts

billed for work performed but not yet paid by the

customer are included in the consolidated statement

of financial position under progress payments

receivable.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised

on the consolidated statement of financial position

when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and

financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the

acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial

liabilities (other than financial assets and financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added

to or deducted from the fair value of the financial

assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial

recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to

the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities

at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of

the two categories, including financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and

receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of

financial assets are recognised and derecognised on

a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales

are purchases or sales of financial assets that require

delivery of assets within the time frame established

by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and

of allocating interest income over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly

discounts estimated future cash receipts (including

all fees paid or received that form an integral part of

the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other

premiums or discounts) through the expected life of

the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are mainly

financial assets held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose

of selling in the near future; or

• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial

instruments that the Group manages together

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term

profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and

effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value,

w i th  changes  i n  f a i r  v a lues  a r i s i ng  f r om

remeasurement are recognised directly in profit or loss

in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss

recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or

interest earned on the financial assets.

3.



HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 / 2010

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 

118

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are

not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial

recognition, loans and receivables (including progress

payments receivable, retention money receivable,

debtors, deposits, amount due from a jointly controlled

entity, bank balances and cash) are carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest method,

less any identified impairment losses (see accounting

policies on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of

impairment at the end of the reporting period. Loans

and receivables are impaired where there is objective

evidence that, as a result of one or more events that

occurred after the initial recognition of the loans and

receivables, the estimated future cash flows of the

financial assets have been affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of

impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

• default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an

impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when

there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,

and is measured as the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the present value of the

estimated future cash flows discounted at the original

effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced

by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets

with the exception of trade debtors, where the carrying

amount is reduced through the use of an allowance

account. Changes in the carrying amount of the

allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When a trade debtor is considered uncollectible, it is

written off against the allowance account. Subsequent

recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to the profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if,

in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment

loss decreases and the decrease can be related

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment

loss was recognised, the previously recognised

impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to

the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at

the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed

what the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by

a group entity are classified according to the

substance of the contractual arrangements entered

into and the definitions of a financial liability and an

equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a

residual interest in the assets of the Group after

deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of

calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability

and of allocating interest expense over the relevant

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments

(including all fee paid or received that form an integral

part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs

and other premiums or discounts) through the

expected life of the financial liability, or, where

appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables

and bank loans are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the

date a derivative contract is entered into and are

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end

of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is

recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to

receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the

financial assets are transferred and the Group has

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition

of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable and the cumulative gain or

loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive

income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the

obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference

between the carrying amount of the financial liability

derecognised and the consideration paid and payable

is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment loss on assets other than
goodwill (see accounting policy in
respect of goodwill above)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews

the carrying amounts of its assets to determine

whether there is any indication that those assets have

suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is

estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount of

asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,

the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised

as expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the

carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised

estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the

carrying amount that would have been determined

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset

in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit

for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as

reported in the consolidated income statement

because it excludes items of income or expense that

are taxable or deductible in other years and it further

excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using

tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

in the consolidated financial statements and the

corresponding tax base used in the computation of

taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all

deductible temporary differences to the extent that it

is probable that taxable profit will be available against

which those deductible temporary differences can be

utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised

if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from

the initial recognition (other than in a business

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a

transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor

the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable

temporary differences associated with investments in

subsidiaries and an associate, and interests in jointly

controlled entities, except where the Group is able to

control the reversal of the temporary difference and it

is probable that the temporary difference will not

reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets

arising from deductible temporary differences

associated with such investments and interests are

only recognised to the extent that it is probable that

there will be sufficient taxable profits against which

to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed

at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of

the asset to be recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the

tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in

which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,

based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax

liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences

that would follow from the manner in which the Group

expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover

or settle the carrying amount of its assets and

liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,

except when it relates to items that are recognised in

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in

which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or direct ly in equity

respectively.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,

construction or production of qualifying assets, which

are assets that necessarily take a substantial period

of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are

added to the cost of those assets until such time as

the assets are substantially ready for their intended

use or sale. Investment income earned on the

temporary investment of specific borrowings pending

their expenditure on qualifying assets is deductible

from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the

terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in

profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as

assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception

of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the

minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability

to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement

of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance

charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged

directly to profit or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an

expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the

relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as

an incentive to enter into an operating lease are

recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the

lease term on a straight-line basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land

and building are considered separately for the purpose

of lease classification, unless the lease payments

cannot be allocated reliably between the land and

building elements, in which case, the entire lease is

generally treated as a finance lease and accounted

for as property, plant and equipment. To the extent

the allocation of the lease payments can be made

reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for

as operating leases and amortised over the lease term

on a straight-line basis except for those that are

classified and accounted for as investment properties

under the fair value model.

Retirement benefits cost
Payments to the Group’s defined contribution

retirement benefits schemes and the Mandatory

Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense

when employees have rendered services entitling

them to the contributions.

3.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 

127

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each

individual group entity, transactions in currencies

other than the functional currency of that entity

(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective

functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary

economic environment in which the entity operates)

at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of

the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,

monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are

retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-

monetary items carried at fair value that are

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated

at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value

was determined. Non-monetary items that are

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of

monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary

items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the

retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair

value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of preparing the consolidated

financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the

Group’s foreign operations are translated into the

presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the

rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting

period, and their income and expenses are translated

at the average exchange rates for the year, unless

exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year,

in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the

dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences

arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive

income and accumulated in equity (the translation

reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign

operation is disposed of.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,

which are described in note 3, the directors of the

Company are required to make the following estimates

that has a significant effect on the amounts recognised

in the consolidated financial statements. The key

assumptions concerning the future, and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

discussed below.

Estimated impairment of trade debtors
When there is objective evidence of impairment loss

for trade debtors, the Group takes into consideration

its estimation of future cash flows. The amount of the

impairment loss for trade debtors is measured as the

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and

the present value of estimated future cash flows

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective

interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed

at initial recognition). Where the actual future cash

flows are less than expected, a material impairment

loss may arise. As at 31 March 2010, the carrying

amount of trade debtors is HK$39,859,000 (2009:

HK$36,413,000).

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities

in the Group will be able to continue as a going

concern while maximising the return to shareholders

through the optimisation of the debt and equity

balances. The Group’s overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior year.

4.

3

39,859,000

36,413,000
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,

which includes bank loans disclosed in note 34, net

of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable

to owners of the Company, comprising issued share

capital, reserves and accumulated profit.

The directors of the Company review the capital

structure on a regular basis. As part of this review,

the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks

associated with each class of capital. Based on

recommendations of the directors, the Group will

balance its overall capital structure through the

payment of dividends.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Investments held for trading 338 4,423

Derivative financial

instruments 1,291 221

Loans and receivables

(including cash

and cash equivalents) 426,650 498,353

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial

instruments — 205

At amortised cost 769,079 835,378

5.

34
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include

progress payments receivable, retention money

receivable, debtors, deposits, amount due from a

jointly controlled entity, bank balances and cash, trade

and other payables and bank loans.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed

in respective notes. The risks associated with these

financial instruments and the policies on how to

mit igate these r isks are set  out  below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures

to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on

a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is mainly

HK$, the currency in which most of the transactions

are denominated.

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities

of the group entities at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

2010 2009

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 2,713 — 3,936 2,913

Australian Dollars (“AUD”) 948 — 2,416 —

Renminbi (“RMB”) 4,148 — 68 —

United States Dollars (“USD”) 1,407 — 337 205

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency

hedging policy. However, the management monitors

foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need

arise.

The Company is mainly exposed to fluctuation in

exchange rate of MOP, AUD, RMB and USD against

HK$. However, the financial impact on the exchange

differences among the foreign currencies and HK$ is

expected to be immaterial to the Group, therefore, no

sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

Interest rate risk

The cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to

the Group’s floating rate bank loans which mainly float

at Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate (“HIBOR”) and

bank balances at the prevailing market deposit rate.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate

hedging policy. However, the management monitors

interest rate exposure and will consider hedging

significant interest rate exposure should the need

arise.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The directors of the Company consider the Group’s

exposure of bank balances to interest rate risk is not

significant as interest bearing bank balances are

within short maturity period. The Group’s sensitivity

to interest rate risk has been determined based on

the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank

loans at the end of the reporting period. The analysis

is prepared assuming amount outstanding at the end

of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole

year. The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk at

the end of the reporting period while all other variables

were held constant is as follows:

2010 2009

Reasonably possible change 50 basis 50 basis

in interest rate points points

50 50

HK$’000 HK$’000

Decrease/increase in profit/loss

for the year as a result   50

of increase in interest rate

by 50 basis points (2,632) (2,660)

Increase/decrease in profit/loss

for the year as a result   50

of decrease in interest rate

by 50 basis points 2,632 2,660

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the

event of the counterparties failure to perform their

obligations as at 31 March 2010 in relation to each

class of recognised financial assets is the carrying

amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position and financial guarantee

contracts issued by the Group to the jointly controlled

entities for the borrowing of bank loans as disclosed

in Note 40.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management

of the Group has delegated a team responsible for

determination of credit limits, credit approvals and

other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up

action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,

the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each

individual debt at the end of the reporting period to

ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for

irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors

of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk

is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

majority of counterparties are banks with high credit-

ratings assigned by international credit-rating

agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit

risk except for the amount due from a jointly controlled

entity, with exposure spread over a number of

counterparties and customers.

6.

40
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Equity price risk

The Group’s held for trading investments comprise

listed equity securities in Hong Kong and elsewhere.

These listed equity securities are subject to market

price risk. The management manages this exposure

by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different

risk profiles. Details of the investments held for trading

are set out in note 29. The management considers

that the market price risks of these investments are

not significant to the Group.

Commodity price risk

The Group was exposed to commodity price risk from

the outstanding commodity forward contracts at the

end of the reporting period. The management

considers that the price risks of these derivative

instruments are not significant to the Group.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group

monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash

equivalents deemed adequate by the management

to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the

effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management

monitors the utilisation of bank loans and ensures

compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source

of liquidity. As at 31 March 2010, the Group has

ava i lab le  unut i l i sed bor rowing fac i l i t i es  o f

a p p r o x i m a t e l y  H K $ 2 9 2 , 6 7 5 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 0 9 :

HK$285,276,000). Details of bank loans are set out

in note 34.

6.

29

292 ,675 ,000

285,276,000
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining

contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based

on the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative

financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up based

on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities

based on the earliest date on which the Group can

be required to pay. The table includes both interest

and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments settle on a net basis,

undiscounted net cash outflows are presented, based

on the contractual maturities as the management

considers that the contractual maturities are essential

for any understanding of the timing of the cash flows

of derivatives.

Liquidity tables

2010
Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective Less than 1-2 2-5 More than undiscounted amount at

interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow 31.3.2010

1-2 2-5 5
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

Trade and
other payables — 138,779 — — — 138,779 138,779

Bank loans  
— variable rate* * 1.43 563,313 7,189 50,844 30,585 651,931 630,300

702,092 7,189 50,844 30,585 790,710 769,079

Non-interest bearing
(rental deposits
received) — 4,718 1,104 321 — 6,143 6,143

706,810 8,293 51,165 30,585 796,853 775,222

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)
2009

Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective Less than 1-2 2-5 More than undiscounted amount at

interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow 31.3.2010

1-2 2-5 5
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

Trade and other
payables — 198,121 — — — 198,121 198,121

Obligation under
a finance lease 1.98 45 — — — 45 44

Bank loans
— variable rate*  * 1.37 647,045 7,721 58,413 28,988 742,167 637,213

845,211 7,721 58,413 28,988 940,333 835,378
Financial guarantee

contract (Note) — 108,500 — — — 108,500 —
Non-interest bearing

(rental deposits
received) — 2,419 3,695 97 — 6,211 6,211

956,130 11,416 58,510 28,988 1,055,044 841,589

Derivatives
— net settlement  

Commodity forward
contracts — 205 — — — 205 205

* The interest rates applied to projected undiscounted
cash flows of variable rate bank loans are the interest
rates at the end of the reporting period.

Note: The amount included above for financial guarantee
contract is the maximum amount the Group could be
required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this
estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that
the financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

are determined as follows:

• the fair value of financial assets and financial

liabilities with standard terms and conditions and

traded on active liquid markets are determined

with reference to quoted market bid prices;

• the fair values of derivative financial instruments

are measured at fair value by reference to the

forward price of related metals quoted from

London Metal Exchange; and

• the fair value of other financial assets and

financial l iabi l i t ies (excluding derivat ive

instruments) are determined in accordance with

generally accepted pricing models based on

discounted cash flow analysis using prices or

ra tes  f rom observab le  cur ren t  marke t

transactions as input.

The directors of the Company consider that the

carrying amounts of financial assets and financial

l iabi l i t ies recorded at amort ised cost in the

consolidated financial statements approximate their

fair values.

6.



HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 / 2010

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 

138

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial

instruments that are measured subsequent to initial

recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 2

based on the degree to which the fair value is

observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those

derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in

active market for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those

derived from inputs other than quoted prices

included within Level 1 that are observable for

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)

or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

At 31 March 2010

Level 1 Level 2 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets of FVTPL

Listed equity securities

held for trading 338 — 338
Derivative financial

instruments — 1,291 1,291

There was no transfer between Level 1 and 2 during

the year ended 31 March 2010.

6.

•

•
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7. TURNOVER
Turnover represents the aggregate of the revenue

earned from construction contract work, interior and

renovation contracts, supply and installation of

building materials, sales of goods, provision of

property agency and management services and gross

rental income from property investment during the

year, and is analysed as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from construction

contract work 520,130 1,400,610

Revenue from interior

and renovation contracts 125,774 154,762

Sale of building materials 23,817 64,175

Revenue from contracts

for installation of building

materials 135,985 142,792

Sale of health products 48,641 45,441

Rental income

from property investment 23,094 19,100

Property agency

and management service

income 6,929 1,595

884,370 1,828,475

7.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating

segments” with effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is

a disclosure standard that requires operating

segments to be identified on the basis of internal

reports about components of the Group that are

regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision

maker for the purpose of allocating resources to

segments and assessing their performance. In

contrast, the predecessor Standard (HKAS 14

“Segment reporting”) required an entity to identify two

sets of segments (business and geographical) using

a risks and returns approach. In the past, the Group’s

primary reporting format was business segments. The

application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a

redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments as

compared with the primary reportable segments

determined in accordance with HKAS 14. However,

there is a change in the measure of segment profit or

loss, segment assets and segment liabilities upon the

adoption of HKFRS 8.

The Group is organised into seven operating divisions:

construction, interior and renovation works, trading

and installation of building materials, sales of health

products, property investment, provision of property

agency and management services and property

development. These divisions are the basis on which

the Group reports its financial information internally

and are regularly reviewed by the chief operating

decision maker for the purpose of allocating resources

to segments and assessing their performance.

8.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s

revenue and results by operating segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Property

Interior and Building Health Property agency and Property Segment

Construction renovation materials products investment management development total Eliminations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER

External sales 520,130 125,774 159,802 48,641 23,094 6,929 — 884,370 — 884,370

Inter-segment

sales 21,363 59,052 33,304 23 1,844 — — 115,586 (115,586 ) —

Total 541,493 184,826 193,106 48,664 24,938 6,929 — 999,956 (115,586 ) 884,370

Inter-segment

sales are

charged on

cost plus

certain

margin

RESULTS

Segment result 8,818 3,443 (11,176 ) 269 82,730 1,215 47,847 133,146 (1,961 ) 131,185

Unallocated

expenses (2,458 )

Finance costs (5,313 )

Profit before

taxation 123,414

8.
(a)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment revenues and results
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Property

Interior and Building Health Property agency and Property Segment

Construction renovation materials products investment management development total Eliminations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER

External sales 1,400,610 154,762 206,967 45,441 19,100 1,595 — 1,828,475 — 1,828,475

Inter-segment

sales 45,326 82,749 67,480 1,200 1,989 861 — 199,605 (199,605 ) —

Total 1,445,936 237,511 274,447 46,641 21,089 2,456 — 2,028,080 (199,605 ) 1,828,475

Inter-segment

sales are

charged on

cost plus

certain

margin

RESULTS

Segment result 8,653 2,823 (11,465 ) (1,659 ) (53,116 ) 262 (47 ) (54,549 ) (400 ) (54,949 )

Unallocated

expenses (2,135 )

Finance costs (9,242 )

Loss before

taxation (66,326 )

The accounting policies of the operating

segments are the same as the Group’s

accounting policies described in note 3.

Segment results represent the results from each

segment without allocation of administration

costs incurred by head office and the inactive

subsidiaries and finance costs. This is the

measure reported to the chief operating decision

maker for the purposes of resource allocation

and performance assessment.

8.
(a)

3
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets

and liabilities by operating segment:

As at 31 March 2010

Property
Interior and Building Health Property agency and Property Segment

Construction renovation materials products investment management development total Eliminations Consolidation

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Segment assets 377,461 49,648 182,326 43,158 612,026 21,494 519,888 1,806,001 (1,961 ) 1,804,040
Unallocated assets 3,287

Consolidated
assets 1,807,327

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 260,575 37,013 41,352 4,270 7,123 311 4,298 354,942 — 354,942
Unallocated

liabilities 702,193

Consolidated
liabilities 1,057,135

8.
(b)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2009

Property
Interior and Building Health Property agency and Property Segment

Construction renovation materials products investment management development total Eliminations Consolidation

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Segment assets 463,932 54,976 213,731 39,689 558,708 1,044 403,760 1,735,840 (400 ) 1,735,440
Unallocated assets 865

Consolidated
assets 1,736,305

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 300,302 35,075 49,033 4,121 7,409 375 4,495 400,810 — 400,810
Unallocated

liabilities 683,502

Consolidated
liabilities 1,084,312

For the purposes of monitoring segment

performance and allocating resources between

segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating

segments other than other receivables of

head office and the inactive subsidiaries,

taxat ion recoverable,  centra l  bank

balances and cash; and

• all liabilities are allocated to operating

segments other than current and deferred

taxation, other payables of head office and

the inactive subsidiaries, obligation under

a finance lease and bank loans.

8.
(b)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other information
Year ended 31 March 2010

Property
Interior and Building Health Property agency and Property

Construction renovation materials products investment management development Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included
in the measure
of segment results
or segment assets:

Depreciation 762 — 718 1,159 795 49 — 3,483
Impairment loss recognised

on trade debtors — — 2,000 — — — — 2,000
Write off of retention

receivable 134 — — — — — — 134
Gain on change in fair value

of investment properties
— — — — (73,629 ) — — (73,629 )

Gain on change in fair value
of investments held
for trading

(189 ) — (857 ) — — — — (1,046 )
Gain on change in fair value

of derivative financial
instruments — — (3,154 ) — — — — (3,154 )

Release of prepaid lease
payments — — 201 — — — — 201

(Gain) loss on disposal of
properties, plant and
equipment

(1,445 ) — — 5 41 — — (1,399 )
Interest income — — (9 ) (11 ) — — — (20 )
Share of profit of

an associate — — — — (921 ) — — (921 )
Share of profit of jointly

controlled entities (3,381 ) — — — — — (54,387 ) (57,768 )
Additions to non-current

assets (note) 1,748 — 3,190 62 10,614 3,372 — 18,986
Interest in an associate

— — — — 16,038 — — 16,038
Interests in jointly

controlled entities 15,858 — — — — — 54,307 70,165

Amounts regularly
provided
to the chief operating
decision maker
but not included in the
measure of segment results:

Finance costs 6 — 2,546 3 2,758 — — 5,313
Income tax expenses 311 86 329 — 13,157 330 — 14,213

Note: Non-current assets excluding f inancial
instruments, interest in an associate and
interests in jointly controlled entities.

8.
(c)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other information (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2009

Property
Interior and Building Health Property agency and Property

Construction renovation materials products investment management development Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included
in the measure
of segment results
or segment assets:

Depreciation 640 — 807 1,833 705 72 — 4,057
Impairment loss recognised

on trade debtors — — 534 — — — — 534
Impairment loss on goodwill — — 2,440 540 — — — 2,980
Impairment loss on property

plant and equipment
— — 2,145 — — — — 2,145

Impairment loss on prepaid
lease payments — — 383 — — — — 383

Loss on change in fair value
of investment properties

— — — — 68,609 — — 68,609
Loss on change in fair value

of investments held for
trading 190 — 1,082 — — — — 1,272

Loss on change in fair value
of derivative financial
instruments — — 58 — — — — 58

Release of prepaid
lease payments — — 17 — — — — 17

Loss on disposal of properties,
plant and equipment

1,210 — — — — — — 1,210
Interest income (30 ) (4 ) (142 ) (11 ) (20 ) — (1 ) (208 )
Share of loss of

an associate — — — — 3,483 — — 3,483
Share of (profit)/loss of

jointly controlled entities
(3,076 ) — — — — — 31 (3,045 )

Additions to non-current
assets (note) 4,941 — 29,984 3,105 17,549 45 — 55,624

Interest in an associate — — — — 15,717 — — 15,717
Interests in jointly

controlled entities 3,478 — — — — — (81 ) 3,397

Amounts regularly
provided
to the chief operating
decision maker
but not included in the
measure of segment results:

Finance costs 582 — 2,739 1 5,920 — — 9,242
Income tax (income) expenses 369 347 2,934 — (10,600 ) (10 ) — (6,960 )

8.
(c)

Note: Non-current assets excluding f inancial
instruments, interest in an associate and
interests in jointly controlled entities.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other information (Continued)

Geographical information

An analys is of  the Group’s turnover by

geographical market based on geographical

location of customers has not been prepared as

the Group’s turnover which amounting to

HK$850,488,000 (2009: HK$1,826,331,000) is

generated from customers located in Hong

Kong, the Company’s place of domicile.

The analysis of the Group’s non-current assets

by location of assets is presented as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong
(place of domicile) 729,341 614,080

The PRC 38,826 38,638

768,167 652,718

Information about major customers

Revenues from customers of the corresponding

years individually contributing over 10% of the

total turnover of the Group as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A (note) 147,248 230,734
Customer B (note) 158,824 495,666
Customer C (note) 30,984 205,696

337,056 932,096

Note: Revenue from construction contracts income.

8.
(c)

850,488,000

1,826,331,000
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9. OTHER INCOME

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income includes:

Dividend income 64 47

Interest income 20 209

Gain on disposal of property,

plant and equipment 1,399 —

10. FINANCE COSTS

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

Bank loans wholly

repayable within five years 8,076 14,230

Bank loans not wholly

repayable within five years 395 426

Finance lease — 3

8,471 14,659

Less: Amount capitalised (3,158) (5,417)

5,313 9,242

9.

10.
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11. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before taxation has been
arrived at after charging and (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (note 12(i)) 12(i)
— Fees — 650 650
— Other emoluments — 6,971 7,084

7,621 7,734
Other staff costs

Salaries and other benefits 132,262 173,139
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 6,875 9,922

Total staff costs 146,758 190,795

Depreciation on property, plant
and equipment 3,483 4,057

Release of prepaid lease payments 201 17
Auditor’s remuneration 1,530 1,400
Impairment loss recognised on

trade debtors 2,000 534
Write off of retention receivable 134 —
Impairment loss on goodwill — 2,980
Impairment loss on property, plant

and equipment — 2,145
Impairment loss on prepaid

lease payments — 383
(Gain) loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment (1,399) 1,210
Net exchange (gain) loss (664) 1,119
Contract costs recognised as

expense in cost of sales 750,042 1,640,603
Costs of inventories recognised

as an expense in cost of sales 50,098 83,370
Gross rental income under

operating leases (23,094) (19,100)
Less: Direct operating expenses

that generated rental
income during the year 2,873 3,080

(20,221) (16,020)

Sub-leasing income (722) (884)
Less: Direct operating expenses

that generated sub-leasing
income during the year 35 14

(687) (870)

Expenses capitalised in cost of
contract work:

Depreciation 13,028 11,496
Rentals under operating

leases in respect of:
— plant and machinery  4,984 14,295
— others  232 955

Note: The Company’s profit for the year amounting
t o  app rox ima te l y  HK$30 ,003 ,000  (2009 :
HK$13,506,000).

11.

30,003,000
13,506,000
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS
(i) Details of directors’ remuneration

are as follows:
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the

ten (2009: ten) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Other emoluments

Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefits

and other incentive scheme Total
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments

(note)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cha Mou Sing, Payson — — — — —
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart — 2,433 1,600 375 4,408
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson — — — — —
Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin — — — — —
Chan Pak Joe 150 — — — 150
Lam Chat Yu 100 — — — 100
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 150 — — — 150
Shen Tai Hing 100 — — — 100
Sun Tai Lun 150 — — — 150
Tai Sai Ho — 1,527 800 236 2,563

650 3,960 2,400 611 7,621

12.

(i)
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Details of directors’ remuneration
are as follows: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Other emoluments

Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefits

and other incentive scheme Total
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments

(note)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cha Mou Sing, Payson — — — — —
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart — 2,502 1,600 375 4,477
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson — — — — —
Cha Yiu Chung, Benjamin — — — — —
Chan Pak Joe 150 — — — 150
Lam Chat Yu 100 — — — 100
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 150 — — — 150
Shen Tai Hing 100 — — — 100
Sun Tai Lun 150 — — — 150
Tai Sai Ho — 1,571 800 236 2,607

650 4,073 2,400 611 7,734

Note: The performance related incentive payment is
determined by the performance of  the
individual and the Group’s performance and
profitability for the two years ended 31 March
2010 and 31 March 2009.

During the two years ended 31 March 2010 and

31 March 2009, no director waived any

emolument.

12.

(i)
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(ii) Employees’ emoluments
During the year, the five highest paid individuals

included two directors (2009: two directors),

details of whose emoluments are set out above.

The emoluments of the remaining three

(2009: three) highest paid individuals were as

follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 2,235 2,299

Performance related incentive

payments 1,120 970

Retirement benefits scheme

contributions 309 345

3,664 3,614

The emoluments of the aforesaid employees

were within the following bands:

2010 2009

HK$1,000,001 — 1,000,001 

HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 3 3

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group

to the directors or highest paid employees as an

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

12.

(ii)
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13. TAXATION (CHARGE) CREDIT
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Current year (3,161) (1,836)

Over (under) provision

in prior years 70 (1,618)

(3,091) (3,454)

Deferred taxation (note 35) 35 (11,122) 10,414

(14,213) 6,960

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council

passed the Revenue Bill 2009 which reduced

corporate profits tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5%

effective from the year of assessment 2008/2009.

Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided at 16.5%

(2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits

for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at

the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

13.

/

17.5%

16.5%

16.5%
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13. TAXATION (CHARGE) CREDIT

(Continued)

Taxation charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled

to the profit (loss) before taxation per the consolidated

income statement as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before taxation 123,414 (66,326)

Tax at the domestic income tax 16.5%

rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) 16.5% 20,363 (10,944)

Tax effect of share of (profit) loss

of an associate (152) 575

Tax effect of share of profit of

jointly controlled entities (9,532) (502)

Tax effect of expenses that are

not deductible in determining

taxable profit 2,582 766

Tax effect of income that is not

taxable in determining

taxable profit (713) (42)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax

losses previously not recognised (1,151) (179)

Tax effect of tax losses not

recognised 3,077 3,980

Decrease in opening deferred tax

liability resulting from a decrease

in applicable tax rate — (2,113)

Tax effect of different tax rates of

subsidiaries operating in

other jurisdictions (191) (119)

(Over) under provision in prior years (70) 1,618

Taxation charge (credit) for the year 14,213 (6,960)

13.
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14. DIVIDENDS
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares:

Interim dividend for 2010 —

HK1.5 cents per share   1.5

(2009: HK0.5 cent per

share for 2009) 0.5 6,649 2,216

Final dividend for 2009 —

HK1.0 cent per share   1.0

(2009: HK2.5 cents per

share for 2008) 2.5 4,432 11,081

11,081 13,297

A final dividend of HK2.5 cents per share totalling

HK$11,081,000 in respect of the year ended 31

March 2010 (2009: final dividend of HK1.0 cent per

share totalling HK$4,432,000 in respect of the year

ended 31 March 2009) has been proposed by the

directors and is  subject  to approval  by the

shareholders in general meeting.

15. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share

for the year is based on the profit for the year of

HK$109,201,000 (loss for the year of 2009:

HK$59,366,000) and on the 443,236,068 shares in

issue for each of the two years ended 31 March 2010.

There were no potential ordinary share in existence

for the two years ended 31 March 2010. Accordingly,

no diluted earnings (loss) per share has been

presented.

7.

2.5

11,081,000

1.0 4,432,000

15.

109,201,000

59,366,000
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
HK$’000

FAIR VALUE

At 1 April 2008 584,940

Additions 17,549

Transfer from buildings, at fair value

(Note 1) 1 1,440

Loss on change in fair value (68,609)

At 31 March 2009 535,320

Additions 1,661

Transfer to properties under

development for sale, at fair value

(Note 2) 2 (22,330)

Transfer to buildings, at fair value

(Note 3) 3 (11,200)

Gain on change in fair value 73,629

At 31 March 2010 577,080

The carrying value of investment properties comprises

properties in Hong Kong under leases as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Long lease 280,000 254,400

Medium-term lease 297,080 280,920

577,080 535,320

16.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 March 2010 and 2009 has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on that date by Jones
Lang LaSalle Limited (“JLL”), an independent property
valuer not connected with the Group. JLL has
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in
the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation of properties amounting to
HK$67,200,000 (2009: HK$58,060,000) was arrived
at by reference to market evidence of transaction at
prices of similar properties. The valuation of other
proper t i es  amount ing  to  HK$509,880,000
(2009: HK$477,260,000) was arrived at by reference
to the income capitalisation method which is based
on the capitalisation of the net income potential by
adopting appropriate capitalisation rate, which is
derived from analysis of sale transactions and
interpretation of prevailing investor requirements or
expectations.

All of the Group’s property interests in land held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

Notes:

(1) At 1 April 2008, there was a transfer of a land and
building amounting to HK$458,000 from land and
buildings to investment properties at fair value of
HK$1,440,000. The resulting revaluation surplus of
HK$982,000 at the date of transfer has been credited
to property revaluation reserve.

(2) At 1 October 2009, there was a transfer of certain
properties amounting to HK$22,330,000 from
inves tment  p roper t i es  to  p roper t i es  under
development for sale at their fair value, which was
determined on the basis of a valuation carried out by
JLL as at the date of transfer.

(3) At 1 December 2009, there was a transfer of a
property amounting to HK$11,200,000 from
investment properties to leasehold land and buildings
at its fair value, which was determined on the basis
of a valuation carried out by JLL as at the date of
transfer.

16.

67,200,000
58,060,000

509,880,000
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT
Properties Leasehold Furniture

under land and Plant and and Leasehold Motor
development buildings equipment fixtures improvements vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 April 2008 — 34,218 63,837 9,356 8,598 12,283 128,292
Exchange adjustments 16 70 108 21 — 29 244
Additions 3,762 16,173 13,453 3,017 868 802 38,075
Transfer to investment

properties — (764) — — — — (764)
Disposals — — — (430) (2,313) (1,332) (4,075)

At 31 March 2009 3,778 49,697 77,398 11,964 7,153 11,782 161,772
Exchange adjustments — 69 33 5 — 2 109
Additions — 11,142 37 898 3,497 1,751 17,325
Reclassification (3,778) 3,778 — — — — —
Transfer to properties under

development for sale — (6,010) — — — — (6,010)
Transfer from investment

properties — 11,200 — — — — 11,200
Disposals — — (6,936) (35) (597) (1,519) (9,087)

At 31 March 2010 — 69,876 70,532 12,832 10,053 12,016 175,309

DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2008 — 5,594 28,800 6,525 5,128 9,481 55,528
Exchange adjustments — 9 67 3 — 18 97
Provided for the year — 1,057 10,561 1,353 1,373 1,209 15,553
Impairment loss recognised

in the consolidated income
statement — 2,145 — — — — 2,145

Eliminated on transfer to
investment properties — (306) — — — — (306)

Eliminated on disposals — — — (165) (1,232) (1,332) (2,729)

At 31 March 2009 — 8,499 39,428 7,716 5,269 9,376 70,288
Exchange adjustments — 9 6 2 — 1 18
Provided for the year — 2,108 11,048 1,463 877 1,015 16,511
Eliminated on transfer to

properties under
development for sale — (767) — — — — (767)

Eliminated on disposals — — (6,936) (30) (556) (1,483) (9,005)

At 31 March 2010 — 9,849 43,546 9,151 5,590 8,909 77,045

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2010 — 60,027 26,986 3,681 4,463 3,107 98,264

At 31 March 2009 3,778 41,198 37,970 4,248 1,884 2,406 91,484

17.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment

other than properties under development are

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following

rates per annum:

Leasehold land and Over the shorter of

buildings unexpired term of

the relevant lease

period or 20 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the

term of the lease

period or 5 years

Other assets 5 years

For the year ended 31 March 2009, management of

the Group conducted impairment review of the CGU

which comprise goodwill, property, plant and

equipment and prepaid lease payments and noted

that the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU is

less than its carrying amount due to the operating

losses incurred by the CGU. Accordingly, as at

31 March 2009, an impairment loss of HK$2,145,000

(2010: nil) was recognised in the profit or loss to fully

write down the leasehold land and buildings, which

were used in the building materials segment of the

Group.

17.

2,145,000
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The carrying value of land and buildings and

properties under development comprises properties

in Hong Kong except for certain buildings amounting

to HK$19,014,000 (2009: HK$14,021,000) which are

located in the PRC. In respect of the properties located

in Hong Kong, the leases terms are shown as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Long lease — 5,312

Medium-term lease 60,027 39,664

60,027 44,976

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

The Group’s prepaid lease

payments comprise:

Leasehold land in the PRC

Medium-term lease 6,821 7,000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Current asset 201 200

Non-current asset 6,620 6,800

6,821 7,000

17.

19,014,000

14,021,000

18.
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of unlisted investment in

an associate 16,576 16,576

Share of post-acquisition profit net of

dividends received (538) (859)

16,038 15,717

Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 March 2010

and 2009 are as follows:

Attributable
Place of interest and
incorporation proportion
and principal of voting

Form of place of Class of power held
Name of associate business structure operation share held by the Group Principal activity

2010 2009

Hoi Bun Godown Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment

Company Limited company

19.



HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 / 2010

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 

162

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of

the Group’s associate is set out below:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 32,089 31,473

Total liabilities (14) (39)

Net assets 32,075 31,434

Group’s share of net assets of

an associate 16,038 15,717

Revenue 1,200 1,200

Profit (loss) for the year 1,842 (6,966)

Group’s share of result and other

comprehensive income

of an associate for the year 921 (3,483)

20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of unlisted investments in

jointly controlled entities 10,000 1,000

Share of post-acquisition profit net

of dividends received 60,165 2,397

70,165 3,397

19.

20.
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s jointly controlled entities as at

31 March 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Attributable

Place of interest and

incorporation proportion of

Name of jointly Form of and principal Class of voting power

controlled entity business structure place of operation share held held by the Group Principal activities

2010 2009

Hip Hing-Hanison Unincorporate Hong Kong N/A 50% 50% Building construction

Joint Venture for a basement,

  podium and transfer

plate at Tung Chung

Hanison-Hip Hing Unincorporate Hong Kong N/A 50% 50% Building construction

Joint Venture for townhouse

  development at

Tung Chung and

property development

at Nos. 1 & 1E

La Salle Road

1 1E

Hip Hing-Hanison Unincorporate Hong Kong N/A 50% 50% Building construction

Joint Venture for superstructure

  work at Tung Chung

20.
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

Attributable

Place of interest and

incorporation proportion of

Name of jointly Form of and principal Class of voting power

controlled entity business structure place of operation share held held by the Group Principal activities

2010 2009

Hanison-Hip Hing Unincorporate Hong Kong N/A 50% 50% Building construction

Joint Venture for superstructure

  work at Hong Kong

International Airport

Crown Cosmos Limited liability British Virgin Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in

Investments Limited company Islands/ Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Poly Rising Limited liability Hong Kong Ordinary 50% 50% Property development

Development Limited company in Hong Kong

Hip Hing-Hanison Unincorporate Hong Kong N/A 50% N/A Building construction

Joint Venture at Lam Tin

  

Hip Hing-Hansion Unincorporate Hong Kong N/A 50% N/A Building construction

Joint Venture at Tin Shui Wai

  

20.
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of

the Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities

attributable to the Group’s interest therein, is set out

below:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 192,537 189,550

Current liabilities (122,372) (94,571)

Non-current liabilities — (91,582)

Revenue recognised in profit or loss

(note) 206,674 9,485

Expenses recognised in profit or loss (148,906) (6,440)

Note: This includes the revenue of a jointly controlled entity
attributable to the Group’s interest therein of
HK$166,870,000 (2009: nil) earned from sale of
properties which were developed for sale.

20.

166,870,000
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21. GOODWILL
HK$’000

COST
At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 2,980

IMPAIRMENT
Impairment loss recognised during

the year 2009 2,980

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 March 2010 —

At 31 March 2009 —

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is

allocated to the respective CGUs. Goodwill of

HK$2,440,000 and HK$540,000 respectively was

allocated to one of the subsidiaries of building

materials segment and one of the subsidiaries of

health products segment as at 31 March 2009.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined

from value in use calculations. The key assumptions

for value in use calculations are those regarding the

discount rates, growth rates and expected changes

to selling prices and direct costs during the year. The

forecast is discounted using a discount rate of 6.9%

(2010: nil) determined with reference to weighted

average cost of capital (“WACC”) of similar companies

in the industry and the respective companies’ WACC

plus certain adjustments. The growth rates are based

on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices

and direct costs are based on past practices and

management’s expectations of future changes in the

market. There has been no significant change in the

model used by management as compared to prior

year.

21.

2,440,000 540,000
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21. GOODWILL (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group
performed an impairment review for goodwill based
on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets for the next 4 years, the projections
are extrapolated using a growth rate of 5% (2010:
nil) per annum, which is determined based on the
CGU’s past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industries.

As at 31 March 2009, the carrying amounts of the
CGUs exceeded the i r  recoverab le  amount .
Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$2,980,000 in
respect of goodwill derived from these operation units
was recognised in the consolidated income statement.
The impairment losses in respect of prepaid lease
payments and property, plant and equipment of
building materials segment are disclosed in Notes 11
and 17 respectively.

22. PROPERTIES UNDER

DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs
capitalised in the properties under development for
sale were HK$24,121,000 (2009: HK$20,963,000).

The carrying value of properties under development
for sale comprises properties in Hong Kong under
leases as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Long lease 28,874 —

Medium-term lease 375,645 333,252

404,519 333,252

The amount is expected to be recovered more than

twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

21.

5%

2,980,000

11 17

22.
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23. INVENTORIES
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Building materials 25,303 20,311

Health products — finished goods   12,847 13,828

Others — finished goods   143 —

38,293 34,139

24. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE (PAYABLE)

ON CONTRACT WORK

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contract costs incurred plus

recognised profit less recognised

losses 6,965,891 6,907,583

Less: Progress billings (6,937,938) (6,829,058)

27,953 78,525

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Amounts receivable on

contract work 157,353 197,778

Amounts payable on

contract work (129,400) (119,253)

27,953 78,525

Both balances of amounts receivable (payable) on

contract work are expected to be settled within twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.

23.

24.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 

169

25. PROGRESS PAYMENTS

RECEIVABLE
Progress payments receivable represent the amounts

receivable, after deduction of retention money, for

construction services which usually fall due within 30

days after the work is certified. Retention money is

usually withheld from the amounts receivable for work

certified. 50% of the retention money is normally due

upon completion of construction services and the

remaining 50% portion is due upon finalisation of

construction accounts. Retention money receivable

is expected to be settled within twelve-month after

the finalisation of construction accounts (note 26).

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Progress payments receivable from:

Subsidiaries of HKR International

Limited (“HKRI”) (Note)

19,600 2,191

Third parties 12,549 45,875

32,149 48,066

Note: HKRI is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Management closely monitors the credit quality of

progress payments receivables and considers the

progress payments receivable that are neither past

due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality.

25.

26
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25. PROGRESS PAYMENTS

RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The aged analysis of progress payments receivable is

as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 30,230 44,583

31-60 days 94 —

61-90 days 1,806 —

Over 90 days 19 3,483

32,149 48,066

The following is an aging analysis of progress

payments receivable which are past due but not

impaired:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

61-90 days 1,806 —

Over 90 days 19 3,483

1,825 3,483

25.
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26. RETENTION MONEY RECEIVABLE
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Retention money receivable from:

Subsidiaries of HKRI 21,205 20,411

Third parties 85,831 127,707

107,036 148,118

Amount receivable within one year 86,646 86,351

Amount receivable after one year 20,390 61,767

107,036 148,118

27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade debtors 39,859 36,413

Other receivables 105 474

Deposits 6,986 10,738

Prepayments 4,177 3,989

51,127 51,614

The Group allows a credit period of not more than 90

days (2009: not more than 90 days) to its customers.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will

internally assess the credit quality of the potential

customers and define appropriate credit limit. Other

receivables are unsecured, interest-free and are

repayable on demand.

26.

27.
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27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Management closely monitors the credit quality of

trade debtors and considers the trade debtors that

are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good

credit quality. Included in the Group’s trade debtors

balance are trade debtors with aggregate carrying

amount of HK$15,085,000 (2009: HK$17,718,000)

which are past due at the end of the reporting period

for which the Group has not provided for impairment

loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over these

balances. There are no balances included in other

receivables which have been past due.

The aged analysis of trade debtors presented based

on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period

is as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 24,216 15,280

31-60 days 3,344 7,816

61-90 days 5,395 2,449

Over 90 days 6,904 10,868

39,859 36,413

The following is an ageing analysis of trade debtors

which are past due but not impaired:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 1,306 1,158
31-60 days 2,305 3,984
61-90 days 4,570 1,708
Over 90 days 6,904 10,868

15,085 17,718

27.
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27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Included in the above trade debtors are amounts due
from related parties of trading nature as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Property management funds which
are managed by subsidiaries
of HKRI 14 125

Jointly controlled entities of
the Group — 79

Indirect wholly owned subsidiary of CCM Trust (Cayman)
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Limited
(Note) 4,131 —

4,145 204

Note: CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited is a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Movement in the impairment losses recognised on
trade debtors:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year — —
Impairment losses recognised on

trade debtors 2,000 534
Amounts written off as uncollectible — (534)

Balance at the end of the year 2,000 —

Included in the impairment loss recognised on trade
debtors are individually impaired trade debtors with
an aggregated balance of HK$2,000,000 (2009:
HK$534,000) which have either been placed under
liquidation or in financial difficulties. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group trade debtors balance which amounting
to HK$4,131,000 (2009: nil) are denominated in
RMB, the currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entity.

27.

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited

2,000,000 534,000

4,131,000
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28. AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITY
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand.

29. INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING
Investments held for trading comprise investments

in equity securities listed on the Stock Exchange and

elsewhere whose fair value amounted to HK$338,000

(2009: HK$2,175,000) and nil (2009: HK$2,248,000)

respectively.

30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Commodity forward contracts:

Derivative financial assets 1,291 221

Derivative financial liabilities — (205)

1,291 16

Both balances of derivative financial assets (liabilities)

are expected to be settled within twelve months after

the end of the reporting period, thus, classified as

current.

28.

29.

3 3 8 , 0 0 0

2,175,000

2,248,000

30.
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30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009,

the Group uses commodity forward contracts to

minimise its exposure to price fluctuations of its raw

materials. The Group does not currently designate any

hedging relationship on the commodity forward

contracts for the purpose of hedge accounting. Fair

value of commodity contracts were determined by

reference to the forward price of related metals quoted

from London Metal Exchange as at the end of the

reporting period. At the respective maturity dates, the

contracts are settled net in cash with the issuer. Major

terms of the commodity forward contracts are set out

below:

2010

Quantity Commodity
Currency Commodity (in tonnes) Maturity forward price

USD Aluminium 65 2 June 2010 USD1,688/metric tonne

1,688

USD Aluminium 500 10 August 2010 USD2,085/metric tonne

2,085

2009

Quantity Commodity
Currency Commodity (in tonnes) Maturity forward price

USD Aluminium 100 31 December 2009 USD1,719/metric tonne

1,719

USD Copper 50 31 December 2009 USD3,490/metric tonne

3,490

30.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments which

amounting to HK$1,291,000 (2009: HK$16,000) are

denominated in USD, the currency other than the functional

currencies of the relevant group entities.

1,291,000

16,000
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31. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the

Group and short-term bank deposits with an original

maturity of three months or less at an average interest

rate of 0.49% (2009: 0.49%) per annum.

The Group’s bank balances that are denominated in

currencies other than the functional currencies of the

relevant group entities are set out in below.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

MOP 2,713 3,936

AUD 948 2,416

USD 116 116

RMB 17 68

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 46,564 85,524

Retention payable — amount

payable within one year  77,456 72,537

Retention payable — amount

payable after one year  14,759 40,060

Accrued operating costs and charges 51,595 44,849

Accrued costs for construction work 47,963 36,999

Receipts in advance 8,284 8,672

Temporary receipts 4,626 4,227

Deposits received 6,187 6,483

257,434 299,351

31.

0.49% 0.49%

32.
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32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)

The aged analysis of trade payables is as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 37,785 77,615

31-60 days 3,849 1,681

61-90 days 681 926

Over 90 days 4,249 5,302

46,564 85,524

Included in the above trade payables are amounts

due to related parties of trading nature as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Subsidiaries of HKRI 12 23

32.
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33. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE

LEASE
The lease term is 5 years. Interest rates underlying

all obligation under a finance lease is fixed at

respective contract dates at 1.98% for the year ended

31 March 2009. This lease has no terms of renewal

or purchase options and escalation clauses.

Present value
Minimum of minimum

lease payments lease payments

2010 2009 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable under a

finance lease

Within one year — 45 — 44

Less: Future finance charges — (1)

Present value of lease

obligations — 44

Less: Amounts due for settlement

within 12 months (shown

under current liabilities)

— (44)

Amounts due for settlement

after 12 months — —

33.

5

1.98%

,
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34. BANK LOANS
The bank loans are repayable as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 554,300 556,713

In the second year 5,000 5,500

In the third to fifth years inclusive

44,000 49,500

After fifth years 27,000 25,500

630,300 637,213

Less: Amounts due within one year (554,300) (556,713)

Amounts due after one year 76,000 80,500

Secured 370,300 374,300

Unsecured 260,000 262,913

630,300 637,213

The bank loans are secured by charges over certain

properties of the Group, which are disclosed in note

39.

The Group’s bank loans are floating-rate borrowings

which are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The interest is charged at a range from HIBOR +

0.60% to HIBOR + 2.00% per annum (2009: from

HIBOR + 0.60% to HIBOR + 2.00% per annum).

The weighted average effective interest rates on the

Group’s loans is 1.43% (2009: 1.33%) per annum.

34.

39

0.60% 2.00%

0.6%

2.00%

1.43% 1.33%
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34. BANK LOANS (Continued)

The Group’s loans that are denominated in currencies

other than the functional currencies of the relevant

group entities are set out below:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

MOP — 2,913

35. DEFERRED TAXATION
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities

(assets) of the Group and movements thereon during

the current and prior years:

Fair value
Accelerated change of

tax investment
depreciation properties Tax losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2008 9,428 30,892 (3,350) 36,970

Charge (credit) to consolidated

income statement for the year 1,049 (10,474) 1,124 (8,301)

Effect of change in tax rate (539) (1,765) 191 (2,113)

At 31 March 2009 9,938 18,653 (2,035) 26,556

Charge (credit) to consolidated

income statement for the year 3,179 11,863 (3,920) 11,122

At 31 March 2010 13,117 30,516 (5,955) 37,678

34.

35.
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35. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has

unused tax losses of HK$88,893,000 (2009:

HK$53,666,000) available for offset against future

profit. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in

respect of HK$36,091,000 (2009: HK$12,333,000)

of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been

r e c o g n i s e d  i n  r e s p e c t  o f  t h e  r e m a i n i n g

HK$52,802,000 (2009: HK$41,333,000) due to the

unpredictability of future profit streams. All the

unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.

36. SHARE CAPITAL
No. of shares HK$’000

Authorised:

Shares of HK$0.10 each 0.10

Balance as at 1 April 2008,

31 March 2009 and

31 March 2010 800,000,000 80,000

Issued and fully paid:

Shares of HK$0.10 each 0.10

Balance as at 1 April 2008,

31 March 2009 and

31 March 2010 443,236,068 44,324

37. RESERVES
Contributed surplus of the Group represents the

difference between the aggregate share capital of the

subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired

by the Company and the nominal amount of the

Company’s shares issued at the time of the group

corporate reorganisation, less the par value of the

bonus shares issued by the Company.

Special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate

of contributions from the then shareholders of the

companies compris ing the Group and other

subsidiaries of HKRI before the group corporate

reorganisation.

35.

88,893,000

53,666,000

3 6 , 0 9 1 , 0 0 0

12,333,000

52,802,000

41,333,000

36.

37.
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Pursuant to the Company’s existing share option

scheme (the “Scheme”) which was adopted on

3 January 2002 and became effective on 9 January

2002,  a l l  d i rectors  ( inc luding independent

non-executive directors), full-time employees and

consultants of the Company, its subsidiaries and/or

its associates are eligible to participate in the Scheme.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the

participants who have been granted options under

the Scheme to subscribe for ordinary shares in the

Company with the opportunity to acquire proprietary

interest in the Company and to encourage them to

work towards enhancing the value of the Company

and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its

shareholders as a whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available
for issuance
The maximum number of shares which may be issued

upon exercise of all options to be granted under the

Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall

not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue

as at the date of approval of the Scheme. A total of

28,367,108 shares of the Company is available for

issue under the Scheme which represents 10% of

the issued share capital of the Company as at the

date of approval of the Scheme and approximately

6.4% of the issued share capital of the Company as

at the date of this report.

The overall limit on the number of shares of the

Company which may be issued upon exercise of all

outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised

under the Scheme and any other schemes of the

Company must not exceed 30% of the shares of the

Company in issue from time to time.

38.

(a)

10%

28,367,108

10%

6.4%

30%
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(b) Maximum entitlement of each
participant
(1) The total number of shares issued and to

be issued upon exercise of the options

granted to each participant (including both

exercised and unexercised options) under

the Scheme or any other share option

schemes adopted by the Company in any

12-month period must not exceed 1% of

the shares in issue unless otherwise

approved by shareholders of the Company.

(2) Where any grant of options to a substantial

shareholder or an independent non-

executive director of the Company, or any

of their respective associates (as defined

in rule 1.01 of the Listing Rules), would

result in the shares issued and to be issued

upon exercise of all options already granted

and to be granted to such person in any

12-month period up to and including the

date of the grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1%

of the shares in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on

the closing price of the shares on

date of grant in excess of HK$5.0

million,

such grant of option shall be subject to

prior approval of the shareholders of the

Company who are not connected persons

of the Company as defined in the Listing

Rules of the Stock Exchange.

38.
(b)

(1)

1%

(2)

1.01

(i) 0.1%

(ii) 5,000,000
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(c) Period within which the shares
must be taken up under an option
Within ten years from the date on which an

option is granted or such shorter period as the

Board of Directors or the relevant committee

thereof may specify.

(d) Minimum period, if any, for which
an option must be held before it can
be exercised
At the time of granting an option, the Board of

Directors or the relevant committee thereof must

spec i fy  the min imum per iod(s)  and/or

achievement of performance targets, if any, for

which an option must be held before it can be

exercised.

Options may be exercised at any time after the

min imum per iods  o f  t ime he ld  and/or

achievement of performance targets, if any,

specified in the terms of grant at the time of

grant.

(e) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire

on 3 January 2012 unless otherwise terminated

in accordance with the terms of the Scheme.

38.
(c)

(d)

(e)
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than

the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company

as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued

by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,

which must be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the

Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets

issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Stock

Exchange business days immediately preceding

the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company

on the date of grant.

A consideration of HK$1 shall be paid upon the

acceptance of the option.

No option has been granted under the Scheme since

its adoption.

39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank

loans were secured by the Group’s assets as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties 494,280 444,670

Leasehold land and buildings 20,871 10,308

Properties under development for sale 183,063 153,600

698,214 608,578

38.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

1

39.
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has given

guarantees to banks in respect of performance bonds

entered into by the jointly controlled entit ies

amounting to HK$650,000 (2009: HK$34,138,000).

In addition, at 31 March 2009, the Group has given

guarantees to the banks in respect of bank loans

granted to the jointly controlled entities amounting to

HK$108,500,000 (2010: nil). The banking facilities

at 31 March 2009 of approximately HK$91,582,000

(2010: nil) were utilised by the jointly controlled

entities.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, legal actions

in respect of the recovery of outstanding balance for

materials sold or delivered have been taken by a

subsidiary of the Company carrying out the installation

projects. This involved a counterclaim from the

defendant who demanded for the settlement of the

outstanding contract sums for three projects. The

directors are of the opinion that no estimate of

potential loss could be made at this moment and there

is a reasonable chance of success for defending

against the counterclaim from the defendant.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, legal action

in respect of allegations of nuisance and negligent

works has been taken against a subsidiary of the

Company preparing the foundation for a new building.

At 31 March 2010, this case has been fully settled.

No further contingent liability expected thereon.

During the year ended 31 March 2004, legal actions

in respect of allegations of copyright infringement and

defamation have been taken against certain

subsidiaries of the Company carrying on its health

products business. No further steps have been taken

against the Group in respect of such actions after the

court hearing for directions to appoint experts and

exchange witness statements since 2004. At 31 March

2010, the directors of the Company are of the opinion

that in view of the uncertainty it is not practicable to

assess the financial effect.

40.

650,000

34,138,000

108,500,000

91,582,000
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41. COMMITMENTS
Authorised but not contracted for
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

committed to contribute HK$231,500,000 (2009:

HK$231,500,000), representing 23.63% (2009:

23.63%) of the anticipated project costs, for the joint

development of a site in So Kwun Wat, Hong Kong.

42. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

commitments for future minimum lease payments in

respect of rented premises under non-cancellable

operating leases which fall due as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,767 5,939

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,504 1,549

5,271 7,488

Minimum lease payments represent rentals payable

by the Group for its office properties, warehouses and

shops  wh i ch  amoun t i ng  t o  HK$672 ,000 ,

HK$2,024 ,000  and  HK$5,136 ,000  (2009 :

HK$877,000, HK$2,283,000 and HK$5,943,000)

respectively. Average leases are negotiable and rentals

are fixed for lease term of three years.

There are certain lease agreements, according to

which the Group is committed to pay the higher of a

minimum guaranteed amount or a monthly payment

equivalent to a prescribed percentage of a monthly

sales as rental. The minimum guaranteed rental

payments are included above. The respective

contingent rental payment for the year ended 31

March 2010 was amounting to HK$623,000 (2009:

HK$372,000).

41.

231,500,000

231,500,000

23.63% 23.63%

42.

672,000 2,024,000

5,136,000 877,000

2,283,000 5,943,000

623,000

372,000
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42. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(Continued)

As lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

contracted with tenants for the following future

minimum lease payments in respect of the investment

properties:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 15,319 16,625

In the second to fifth year

inclusive 6,251 11,186

21,570 27,811

Leases are negotiable for lease term of three years.

43. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
With the implementation of Mandatory Provident Fund

Scheme in Hong Kong on 1 December 2000, the

Group has maintained the defined contribution

scheme registered under the Occupational Retirement

Schemes Ordinance and has obtained an exemption

satisfying the requirements of the Mandatory

Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPFO”).

To comply with the MPFO, a Mandatory Provident

Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with voluntary

contributions has been established. New employees

must join the MPF Scheme after it commenced on

1 December 2000. The Group contributes 5% of the

relevant payroll costs for each employee to the MPF

Scheme, which contr ibut ion is  matched by

employees.

42.

43.
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43. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(Continued)

The amounts charged to the consolidated income

statement represent contributions paid and payable

to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the

rules of the schemes less forfeitures arising from

employees leaving the Group prior to completion of

qualifying service period. The amount for the year is

as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contributions paid and payable 7,495 10,664

Forfeiture (9) (131)

7,486 10,533

At 31 March 2010 and 2009, there was no forfeited

contribution, which arose upon employees leaving the

retirement benefit schemes and which were available

to reduce contributions payable.

43.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year,  the fo l lowing related party

transactions took place:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Construction income from

subsidiaries of HKRI 147,248 230,734

Construction income from

a jointly controlled entity 6,929 8,186

Project management income from

a related company in which

a substantial shareholder

of the Company has

beneficial interest 4,131 —

Rental income received from

a company associated with

certain directors of the Company

or the substantial shareholder

of HKRI 316 316

Rental expenses to an associate 1,200 1,200

Interior and renovation income

from subsidiaries of HKRI

and its associates 62 552

Compensation of key management
personnel
Details of the remuneration of key management

personnel, which are the directors, during the year

were set out in note 12.

44.

12



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 

191

45. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD
On 22 June 2010, the Board has resolved to

recommend a bonus issue (“Bonus Issue”) of shares

of HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company (“Bonus

Shares”) on the basis of one Bonus Share for every

ten existing shares held by the members of the

Company whose names appear on the Registers of

Members on 10 August 2010. The Bonus Shares will

be credited as fully paid and will rank pari passu with

the existing issued ordinary shares of the Company

in all respects from the date of issue, except that they

will not rank for the final dividend of HK$2.5 cents

per share to be declared by the Company. The Bonus

Issue is subject to approval by the shareholders in

the forthcoming AGM and the Listing Committee of

the Stock Exchange granting listing of, and permission

to deal in, the Bonus Shares.

46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, all of which

are wholly owned, at 31 March 2010 and 2009 are

as follows:

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/
registration/ registered capital/

Name of subsidiary operation quota capital Principal activities

(note 1)
1

Amwell Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 Investment holding
Hong Kong 1

Brilliant Advance Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$2 Investment holding
Hong Kong 2

45.

0.10

46.
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/
registration/ registered capital/

Name of subsidiary operation quota capital Principal activities

(note 1)
1

Care & Health Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of health products
2

Emwell Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property investment
2

Excel Gaining Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Property investment
1

Famous Era International Hong Kong HK$1 Property investment
Limited 1

Forever Gainer Development Hong Kong HK$2 Property development
Limited 2

General Target Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property investment
10,000

Hamfield Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
2

Hanison Construction Hong Kong Ordinary shares Property construction
Company Limited HK$1,000

Deferred shares
HK$60,000,000
(note 3)

1,000
60,000,000

3

46.
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary

incorporation/ share capital/

registration/ registered capital/

Name of subsidiary operation quota capital Principal activities

(note 1)

1

Hanison Construction British Virgin Islands/ US$2 Investment holding

Holdings (BVI) Limited Hong Kong 2

(Note 2) 2

Hanison Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property construction

2

Hanison Estate Services Hong Kong HK$2 Provision of property

Limited management services

2

Hanison Foundation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Property construction

1

Hanison Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding

1

Hanison Interior & Hong Kong HK$2 Provision of interior

Renovation Limited 2 and renovation services

Hanison (Macau) Limited Macau MOP25,000 Property construction

25,000

46.
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary

incorporation/ share capital/

registration/ registered capital/

Name of subsidiary operation quota capital Principal activities

(note 1)

1

Hanison Project Hong Kong HK$2 Provision of property

Management Limited 2 leasing and marketing

services and project

management

Hantex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Plant maintenance and

1 servicing

Healthcorp Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of health products

2 and investment holding

Heatex Ceramic Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000 Property development

400,000

Million Hope Industries Hong Kong HK$11,000,000 Supply and installation

Limited of building materials

11,000,000

Retailcorp Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Sales of health products

2

46.
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary

incorporation/ share capital/

registration/ registered capital/

Name of subsidiary operation quota capital Principal activities

(note 1)

1

Rich Color Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 Investment holding

Hong Kong 1

Sanney Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Property investment

1

Senior Rich Development Hong Kong HK$10,380 Property investment

Limited 10,380

Sental Investment Hong Kong HK$2 Property development

Limited 2

Sunny Oriental Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding

1

Tai Kee Pipes Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 Trading of building

2,000,000 materials

Team Forward Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$2 Investment holding

Hong Kong 2

Top Rising Development Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding

Limited 1

46.
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/
registration/ registered capital/

Name of subsidiary operation quota capital Principal activities

(note 1)
1

Trigon Building Hong Kong HK$2 Supply and installation
Materials Limited 2 of building materials

Trigon Interior Macau MOP25,000 Building materials,
Fitting-Out Works 25,000 renovation and trading
(Macau) Limited

Triple Sky Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Property investment
1

Wisdom Concept Hong Kong HK$2 Property development
Development Limited 2

( ) People’s Republic US$600,000 Trading of health products
(Note 5) 5 of China 600,000

People’s Republic HK$4,740,559 Manufacture and supply
(Note 5) 5 of China 4,740,559 of building materials

( ) * People’s Republic HK$39,990,771 Manufacture and
(Note 5) 5 of China 39,990,771 supply of building

materials

* Subsidiary which was newly established during the
financial year ended 31 March 2009.

46.

*
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Notes:

(1) All being ordinary share capital except the registered
capital for the subsidiaries registered in the PRC and
quota capital for subsidiaries incorporated in Macau.

(2) Other than Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI)
Limited, which is directly held by the Company, all
other companies are indirectly held by the Company.

(3) The deferred shares are shares whose shareholders
are neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at
any general meetings nor to receive any dividend out
of operating profit and have very limited rights on
return of capital of the subsidiary.

(4) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities during the year.

(5) A wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

(6) The Company have 100% ownership interest and
voting power except otherwise stated.

46.

(1)

(2) H a n i s o n
Construction Holdings (BVI) Limited

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6) 100%
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Year ended 31 March

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RESULTS

Turnover 884,370 1,828,475 1,445,869 1,178,891 876,564

Profit (loss)

before taxation 123,414 (66,326) 118,640 112,645 97,124

Taxation (charge)

credit (14,213) 6,960 (24,350) (7,077) (15,167)

Profit (loss)

for the year 109,201 (59,366) 94,290 105,568 81,957
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As at 31 March

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

Total Assets 1,807,327 1,736,305 1,848,949 1,308,055 1,082,128

Total Liabilities (1,057,135) (1,084,312) (1,124,748) (660,414) (526,757)

Shareholders' Funds 750,192 651,993 724,201 647,641 555,371
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A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
RENTAL PURPOSES

Total
saleable/gross

floor/site Attributable
area (sq.ft.) interest of

Nature of the Group Category
Descriptions property of lease

1. Workshop 5, G/F, Block A, 128,308 Industrial 100% Medium term
Workshop 3, G/F, Block B, (excluding area lease
Workshop 7, 1/F, Block A, of flat roofs)
Workshop 8, 1/F, Block B,
Workshops 9-10, portion of
Workshop 12 and Workshop 13,
2/F, Block A,
Workshop 8, 2/F, Block B,
Workshops 1-3, 6 & portion
of Workshops 4-5 & 24 (including
flat roofs of 4, 5 & 6), 3/F, Block B,
Workshops 1-5, 4/F, Block B,
Workshops 1-18
& majority portion of
Workshop 23 (including
flat roofs of Workshops 5 & 6),
4/F, Block A,
Whole Floor, 5/F, Blocks A & B,
Whole Floor, 6/F, Block A,
Car Parking Spaces
V26, V31, V36, V42, V49, V50,
V55, C2, L42, L45 & L53
Shatin Industrial Centre
5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit
Shatin, New Territories

1. 128,308 100%

5 7

A 5
B 3
A 7
B 8
A 9 10

12 13
B 8
B 1 3 6

4 5 24
4 5 6

B 1 5
A 1 18

23
5 6

A B
A

V26 V31 V36 V42 V49
V50 V55 C2 L42 L45 L53

A.
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A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
RENTAL PURPOSES (Continued)

Total
saleable/gross

floor/site Attributable
area (sq.ft.) interest of

Nature of the Group Category
Descriptions property of lease

2. Ground Floor and 1st Floor 5,041 Industrial 100% Medium term
of Block B, Nos. 23-25 lease
Mei Wan Street
Tsuen Wan
New Territories

2. 5,041 100%
23 25

B

3. Lots Nos. 2052 s.A 142,066 Agricultural 100% Medium term
2052 s.B, 2063 s.A RP lease
2063 s.B RP, 2063 s.C RP
2064, 2062, 2066 RP, 2068
2065 RP, 2053, 2059, 2057
2055, 2056, 2034, 2028RP
2054 and 2060 RP
in Demarcation District
No. 76
Ping Che
Fanling
New Territories

3. 142,066 100%
76

2052 s.A,
2052 s.B, 2063 s.A RP
2063 s.B RP, 2063 s.C RP
2064, 2062, 2066 RP, 2068
2065 RP, 2053, 2059, 2057
2055, 2056, 2034, 2028RP
2054 2060RP

4. Leasehold interest in the 2,731 Commercial/ 100% Medium term
Head-Lease for the residual Residential lease
term of 30 years commencing
from 1 December 1989 with
an option to renew for a further
term of 30 years of whole of
No. 31 Wing Wo Street, Sheung Wan
Hong Kong

4. 2,731 100%
31

A.
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A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
RENTAL PURPOSES (Continued)

Total
saleable/gross

floor/site Attributable
area (sq.ft.) interest of

Nature of the Group Category
Descriptions property of lease

5. Lots Nos. 163s.A, 163s.B, 164 214,106 Agricultural 100% Medium term
165 s.B, 165RP, 166RP, 167RP lease
168, 169, 170 & 171
in Demarcation District No. 128
Deep Bay Road, Yuen Long
New Territories

5. 214,106 100%
128

163s.A, 163s.B, 164
165s.B, 165RP, 166RP, 167RP
168, 169, 170 171

6. Workshop Unit Nos. 4 to 6 (inclusive) on 4,192 Industrial 100% Medium term
2nd Floor and Lorry Carpark Nos. L7 & L8 lease
on Ground Floor,
Kin Wing Industrial Building,
No. 33 Kin Wing Street,
Tuen Mun, New Territories

6. 4,192 100%
33

4 6

L7 L8

7. The Austine (formerly known as 45,076 Commercial/ 100% Long lease
Tak Hing Building) Residential
No. 38 Kwun Chung Street
Jordan, Kowloon

7. 38 The Austine 45,076 100%

8. Lot Nos. 716, 719, 721, 722, 724, 63,162 Agricultural 50% Medium term
725, 726, 727 and 728 lease
in Demarcation District
No. 132, Tuen Mun, New
Territories

8. 132 63,162 50%
716, 719, 721, 722, 724, 725,
726, 727 728

A.
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B. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE

Site Gross floor Expected Attributable
area area completion interest of

(sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) Stage of date Nature of the Group
Descriptions completion property

1. Eight College 6,125 18,372 Work in 2010 Residential 100%
8 College Road progress
Kowloon Tong
Kowloon

1. 6,125 18,372 2010 100%
8

Eight College

2. 121 Lots in Demarcation 815,886 Not yet Planning No Residential 100%
District No. 129 determined in progress definite
Lau Fau Shan plan
Yuen Long
New Territories

2. 815,886 100%

129
121

3. Lot Nos 412s. B, 44,588 Not yet Planning No Residential 100%
413, 442RP, 443RP, determined in progress definite
445s.A, 445RP, plan
446RP and 447
in Demarcation
District No. 374
So Kwun Wat
Tuen Mun
New Territories

3. 44,588 100%
374

412s.B, 413,
442RP, 443RP, 445s.A,
445RP, 446RP  447

4. Nos. 91-97 Bedford Road 4,820 57,772 Work in 2013 Industrial 100%
progress

4. 91 97 4,820 57,772 2013 100%

B.
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C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Site Gross floor Attributable
area area interest of

(sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group Category
Descriptions property of lease

8 Residential Units, 11,590 34,772 Residential 50% Medium
13 Car Parking Spaces and term lease
3 Motorcycle Parking Spaces
at One LaSalle, Nos. 1 & 1E
La Salle Road, Kowloon Tong
Kowloon

11,590 34,772 50%
1 1E One LaSalle
8 13
3

C.
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